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In 2021 we launched two new vessels, MSC Virtuosa and MSC Seashore.  
In July we launched a Red Sea itinerary out of Saudi Arabia, a market previously 
untapped to cruising. Thanks to our industry-leading health and safety protocols, 
we were able to progressively bring 80% of our passenger capacity back online, 
becoming the first cruise brand to resume sailing in several regions of the world.

Leading the cruise industry’s return to service

Following the industry-wide global operational 
halt in 2020, in 2021 we continued to deal 
with the impact of COVID-19, worked to 
progressively bring our fleet back into 
service and took delivery of two new ships,  
MSC Virtuosa and MSC Seashore. 
Despite the ongoing effects of the global 
pandemic on the entire cruise industry, and 
the broader travel and hospitality sector,  
13 vessels - representing almost 80 percent of  
MSC Cruises’ passenger capacity - welcomed 
back guests. Over one million bookings have 
been received since our restart in August 
2020.

As the global cruise industry continued to suffer from the effects of the pandemic in 2021, we built on our position 
as the first major cruise line to recommence international operations in the Mediterranean in August 2020. 
Through our actions, we inspired a timely resumption of cruise operations globally, becoming the first cruise 
brand to resume sailings in several regions across the world. The United Kingdom, France, Spain, and Brazil are 
some of the key markets that MSC Cruises’ ships effectively re-opened to cruising in 2021. 
Throughout the year we were strategic with our ships and looked for creative solutions to deploy them in an 
international environment marked by successive waves of coronavirus infections and ongoing restrictions to 
international travel.

In May, the newly launched MSC Virtuosa became the first ship in MSC Cruises’ fleet to be exclusively dedicated 
to the UK market. Through a partnership with Cruise Saudi, in July we launched a service out of Saudi Arabia, 
a market that was previously untapped to cruising, giving our guests unique access to a range of new Red 
Sea destinations, including several historic UNESCO heritage sites. And in November, with MSC Magnifica, we 
started offering regular itineraries in Northern Europe during the winter season.
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Providing safe holidays in the current health environment

The pioneering work that we have undertaken since the early days of the pandemic to develop our stringent 
health protocol has allowed MSC Cruises to continue offering safe and carefree cruise holidays. Early in the 
pandemic we created bubble-like environments on our vessels, allowing us to bring our guests and crews safely 
home. We then built on this foundation with external input from internationally renowned public health and 
epidemiology experts that form the MSC Cruises Blue-Ribbon COVID Expert Group. Among many measures we 

took, ours was the first cruise company to mandate 
universal COVID-19 testing prior to embarkation;  
we extended our ships’ ‘safety bubbles’ ashore during 
port days, thus ensuring safe excursions. Measures 
such as these quickly became the cornerstone of the 
cruise industry’s health protocols and have since been 
adopted by other industries and sectors beyond travel 
and tourism.

MSC Cruises’ protocol has been designed to evolve 
according to the state of the pandemic to always 
ensure an optimum balance between safety and 

guests’ high expectations for their holidays. In 2021, as new coronavirus waves and variants spread across the 
world, worsening the global health situation, we were able to continuously fine tune our protocol, limiting the 
introduction and spread of COVID-19 and other infectious diseases on board. In August, when infection rates 
spiked in the UK, MSC Cruises introduced additional safeguards on MSC Virtuosa, which kept the infection rate 
on board significantly lower when compared to the level of community transmission locally ashore. Towards the 
end of the year, as new variants once again led to spikes in infection rates, additional testing and vaccination 
requirements helped to once more keep infection rates on board our ships lower compared to levels ashore.  
As a result, throughout the year MSC Cruises’ ships provided a considerably safer environment than most 
guests could find in their countries of residence, both in general terms and - more specifically - across the 
travel and hospitality sectors.

Despite the challenging circumstances and hardships ashore caused by the pandemic, since our restart in 
August 2020, over one million MSC Cruises guests booked a well-deserved holiday at sea in the safety that 
only our cruise ships can provide. Our strong operational protocols and unique capability to adjust measures and 
itineraries allowed us to keep our ships sailing and guests happy throughout the pandemic’s ups and downs.  
The feedback received has been overwhelmingly positive with encouraging booking patterns for 2022 and 2023.
In 2021, Dr Robert R. Redfield, the former Director of the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, joined 

MSC Cruises’ Blue-Ribbon COVID Expert Group, bringing to the team of internationally-renowned public health 
experts the best possible technical support and helping ensure alignment with the continuously-evolving rules 
that govern pandemic response around the world.

Prof. Camillo Ricordi 
Professor of Biomedical Engineering, 
University of Miami School  
of Medicine.

Dr. Robert R. Redfield
American virologist and infectious 
disease clinician who served
as Director of the US Centers
for Disease Control and Prevention 
(CDC) from 2018 to 2021.

Joined 
in 2021

Prof. Stephan  
J. Harbarth 
Hospital Epidemiologist, Infectious 
Diseases Specialist and Head  
of the Antimicrobial Stewardship 
Program at the Geneva University 
Hospitals and Faculty of Medicine.

Dr. Jesus Arroyo
Specialist Internal Medicine,  
Geneva University Hospitals; 
private practice, Geneva;  
Medical Affairs consultant, 
Trafigura Energy.

Dr. Ian Norton
Specialist Emergency Physician, 
currently managing director  
of Respond Global; former head of 
the World Health Organization (WHO) 
Emergency Medical Team Initiative 
program.

Prof. Christakis 
Hadjichristodoulou 
Professor of Hygiene and 
Epidemiology in the Faculty 
of Medicine and Vice President, 
School of Health Sciences,  
University of Thessaly, Greece.

MSC CRUISES’ BLUE-RIBBON COVID EXPERT GROUP

Our Blue-Ribbon COVID Expert Group helped us fine tune our stringent health protocol, 
thus enabling MSC Cruises to continue offering safe and carefree cruise holidays 
to guests around the world. Since August 2020, when MSC Cruises re-started 
operations, we have received more than one million bookings.
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Investing in our future growth

Despite the ongoing challenges and the lack of certainty, we have never lost confidence in the bright prospects 
for the cruise industry’s future and we have continued to invest in its growth. Two cruise ships joined our fleet  
in 2021 – MSC Virtuosa and MSC Seashore. With their launch, the number of next-generation vessels introduced 
by MSC Cruises since 2017 increased to seven, adding more than 30,000 lower berths that have doubled the 
Company’s passenger capacity in just four years. 

Meanwhile, the float outs of MSC Seascape – 
under construction at Fincantieri in Italy – and  
MSC World Europa – our first liquefied natural gas 
(LNG) powered vessel, under construction at Chantiers 
de l’Atlantique in France – took place in November and 
December, respectively; they will be ready for delivery 
and operations in 2022. While in June, Chantiers 
started building MSC Euribia, our second LNG-powered 
cruise ship and likely to be one of the most environment 
friendly contemporary vessels in the world.

As a further sign of our long-term commitment to 
the cruise industry and confidence in the future, in 
May our Cruise Division launched Explora Journeys, a 
new cruise brand for the next generation of discerning 

luxury travellers. Working in partnership with the world’s leading super-yacht designers and Fincantieri, we have 
begun construction on the first two of up to six cruise vessels – four firm orders and two options – that will enter 
into service in 2023 and 2024 and promise to redefine and disrupt the sector.

In 2021 we also advanced with our ambitions to grow our portfolio of cruise terminals, which is allowing us to 
anchor our presence in marquee homeports and offer the best service to guests while enabling us to foster a 
front-to-end integrated experience. In November, we opened the doors of the Nelson Mandela Cruise Terminal 
in Durban, South Africa, where MSC Cruises is the undisputed market leader. We also obtained final clearance 
to start building our exclusive cruise terminal in Barcelona, Spain, a key embarkation port in the western 
Mediterranean, expected to enter service in 2024. 

We also completed the planning phase of MSC Cruises’ future cruise terminal in Miami, where we expect to 
break ground at the end of the first quarter of 2022 and complete work by the start of 2024. 

Representing an investment of EUR 350 million, the new mega terminal will be able to serve as many as three 
latest-generation cruise ships simultaneously. With up to 36,000 travellers passing through every day, it will be 
the biggest terminal at the cruise capital of the world, and possibly in the world itself.

During 2021, we began construction on three vessels. We also launched Explora 
Journeys, a new cruise brand for luxury travellers, that will start operations in 2023 
with its own, dedicated ships. And we moved ahead with our cruise terminals 
programme, inaugurating the new Nelson Mandela Cruise Terminal in Durban, getting 
clearance for an exclusive terminal in Barcelona and completing the planning process 
for our future terminal in Miami.

In addition, in 2021 we also resumed holding important corporate and institutional events in the key markets 
of North America and the United Arab Emirates, helping cement and build our profile with institutional 
stakeholders as we grow in these regions. In November, we christened MSC Seashore, in Ocean Cay  
MSC Marine Reserve (the Bahamas) and Miami, as well as MSC Virtuosa, in Dubai, in conjunction with the 
celebration of the United Arab Emirates’ 50th National Day. The event at our exclusive private island in the Bahamas 
also included the ground-breaking for the MSC Foundation’s Marine Conservation Centre, in support of the  
Foundation’s “Super Coral Program”; the ceremony was attended by the Bahamian Prime Minister and  
his delegation.

James McEntee_AP Images
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Investing in our people both on board and ashore

As more and more vessels in our fleet 
progressively came back into service in 2021, 
nearly 16,000 crew members returned to 
their posts. For their own health and safety, 
crew members were tested numerous times 
and quarantined before they could re-join the 
workforce; once aboard, they were subjected to 
frequent testing. We were able to do this quickly 
and diligently. Through exceptional planning 
and preparation, we brought many of our ships 
back into service barely days after receiving the 
green light to set sail. In addition, we kickstarted 
a process to fully vaccinate every crew member, 
so as to provide the safest possible environment 
for everyone on board and at the communities 
where we call. 
Meanwhile, as we did in 2020, we focused on providing all our employees - both ashore and on board - with the 
best tools available for working remotely, when necessary, and with opportunities to progress in their careers. 

In particular, we launched holistic and dedicated e-learning modules to ensure all our ship- and land-based 

employees could continue to receive - online - the same high-quality training they were receiving in-person 

before the pandemic, training that is a key part of our industry-leading offering.

During the year, we also continued to invest in reinforcing our team ashore, creating new positions that will help 

us consolidate our global reach and secure sustained growth. On a par with our fleet’s ongoing expansion, we 

significantly strengthened our Sales, Revenue Management and Marketing functions, particularly in priority growth 

markets like North America. This will help ensure that we are best positioned to capture sales and revenue increase 

opportunities in line with our fleet’s enlargement. 

With the launch of Explora Journeys in 2021, we built a dedicated ashore team distinct from 

MSC Cruises, led by Michael Ungerer, the new luxury cruise brand’s CEO. We assembled 

a senior management team with a combined expertise of more than 100 years within the 

luxury, hospitality and cruise sectors. Explora Journeys unveiled plans for four luxury ships 

to be delivered by the Fincantieri shipyard in Italy, with the first vessel – EXPLORA I – set to debut in May 2023. 

The luxury brand also announced its commitment to the travel advisor community with a new, rewarding 

commission structure that quickly attracted luxury travel partnerships.

In 2021, nearly 16,000 crew members 
returned to their posts. In support of our 
employees, we offered dedicated e-learning 
modules to ensure all our team members 
could continue to receive our industry-leading 
training and progress in their careers. We 
also invested to strengthen our Sales, 
Revenue Management and Marketing teams 
- especially in growth markets - to ensure we 
capture all opportunities as our fleet grows.
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Sustainability as a top priority

Beyond the short-term challenges that the pandemic brought, we recognise that in the longer-term sustainability 
is a critical priority, for us as for the entire maritime sector. As a family-owned group with three centuries of 
maritime heritage, we are committed to protecting our planet and ocean ecosystems for future generations.
In 2021 we took an important step forward and reinforced our industry leadership in this field by pledging to 
achieve net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 for our marine operations. A daunting task lies ahead, as 
the fuels and technologies that will enable this change either do not exist at scale or have not reached the level 
of maturity required for their commercial deployment.

In 2021 we initiated partnerships with shipyards, energy providers, infrastructure companies, technology 
developers and academic institutions to study fuel cells, hydrogen-powered vessels and other upcoming 
technologies. Our ambition is to continuously study and test these potential solutions through our new-build 
and retrofitting programmes, which seek to accelerate their development, help them reach maturity and deploy 
them across our fleet.

The LNG-powered MSC World Europa and MSC Euribia, which are currently under construction and scheduled 
for delivery in Q4 2022 and 2023, respectively, will play a fundamental role in this process.
Liquified Natural Gas (LNG) achieves a significant reduction in CO

2
 emissions and nearly eliminates emissions 

of sulphur oxides and particulates. Moreover, unlike traditional marine fuels, LNG offers potential compatibility 
with these upcoming solutions.

Looking ahead, energy efficiency improvements and operational measures alone will not be enough to put the 
shipping sector on a course to successful decarbonization. For this reason, the MSC Group’s Cruise Division 
is actively helping accelerate the significant technological evolution that is required. In this spirit, the Company 
is taking part in several industry research projects seeking to develop the technologies and fuels that offer the 
potential to enable zero-greenhouse gas emissions ships. 

Our key projects include:

•  HYDROGEN-POWERED VESSELS: we recently entered into a partnership with leading shipbuilder Fincantieri 
and energy infrastructure company Snam to jointly determine the parameters for the design and construction 
of what could become the world’s first oceangoing hybrid hydrogen/LNG-powered cruise ship, which would 
allow for zero-emissions operations in certain areas of the ship’s operation. Factors that require consideration 
include how to arrange ship spaces to accommodate the necessary hydrogen technologies and fuel cells, 
identifying the technical parameters of onboard systems, calculating the potential greenhouse gas emissions 
savings, and technical and economic analysis of hydrogen supply and shore-based infrastructure. 

•  FUEL CELLS ON LNG-POWERED VESSELS: fuel cells offer great potential to achieve meaningful emissions reductions. 
Having ordered three ships that will run on fuel-sourced LNG, a transitional fuel that generates up to 21% less 
greenhouse gas emissions compared to traditional marine fuels, MSC Cruises is studying the integration of 
fuel cells as a means to achieve further reductions. In 2019, we unveiled Blue Horizon, a ground-breaking R&D 
project that focuses on the integration of Solid Oxide Fuel Cell (SOFC) technology on LNG-powered cruise ships. 

•  RETROFITTING FUEL CELL TECHNOLOGY: we have joined a consortium with GE Power Conversion, Lloyd’s 
Register and Ceres Power Holdings to explore how to address the barriers to the adoption of fuel cells in large 
ship applications. It will examine how SOFCs can be integrated into a ship’s operational functionality including 
the existing power and propulsion architecture and layout, allowing the impact of using SOFC technology to 
be quantified in terms of overall emissions reductions. The project has been awarded funding as part of the 
UK Department for Transport’s Clean Maritime Demonstration Competition.

•  LOW CARBON TECHNOLOGIES AND SHIP DESIGN: the MSC Cruise Division is also partnering with industry 
leaders and academia in a research project that promotes low-carbon shipping by combining progressive energy 
technologies and innovative ship design. Led by the University of Vaasa, the CHEK Consortium – deCarbonising 
shipping by enabling Key Technology symbiosis on real vessels concept designs project – involves the World 
Maritime University, Wärtsilä, Cargill and Lloyd’s Register, among others.

In 2021 MSC Cruises pledged to achieve net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, leading the industry on a necessary path to decarbonization. We are building two LNG-powered 
ships, the MSC World Europa and MSC Euribia, with the first scheduled for delivery in 2022. We also launched partnerships with leading companies and research institutes around 
the world to develop new, environment-friendly design and building solutions as well as alternative propulsion methods, including fuel cells and hydrogen power. 
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Advancing with our philanthropic commitments

In 2021 we continued to advance our ambitious philanthropic 
efforts to support people and communities in crisis all over the 
world. The MSC Foundation of MSC Group - which leverages 
MSC’s global reach and unique knowledge of the sea to help 

restore the critical balance between people and nature - responded to 17 emergencies during the year, ranging 
from the ongoing health emergency to earthquakes, wildfires and volcanic eruptions. 
 
The MSC Foundation continued to support the international organisations and NGOs that it partners with. 
Through its work with UNICEF, 50 classrooms were built in the Ivory Coast with innovative sustainable materials. 
We also supported the Andrea Bocelli Foundation’s work in Haiti, which focuses on helping five remote schools 
prevent the spread of COVID19; Marevivo, which concentrates on biodiversity conservation, sustainable 
development and the enhancement and promotion of marine protected areas; and Mercy Ships, which operates 
hospital ships providing high-quality healthcare around Africa’s coastal communities.

Perhaps nowhere is the MSC Foundation’s work 
more visible than on Ocean Cay, a once-abandoned 
industrial sand extraction site on the Bahamas that we 
have turned into a thriving natural reserve. 
Ocean Cay MSC Marine Reserve has been conceived 
to promote sustainability, advance scientific knowledge 
and educate our guests about the need to preserve 
our environment. In 2021 we capitalised on this 
successful transformation by partnering with leading 
universities to launch the implementation phase of 
our coral restoration program. We broke ground on 
the construction of a marine conservation center 
where scientists and students will build resilient reef 
ecosystems to help reverse the decline of coral around 
the world.

Working with its partners, in 2021 the MSC Foundation supported 
efforts as varied as building classrooms in Ivory Coast, assisting 
international biodiversity conservation efforts and operating hospital 
ships along Africa’s coasts. And then, of course, there is Ocean Cay  
MSC Marine Reserve, in the Bahamas, where MSC has created  
a thriving natural reserve that promotes sustainability and 
educates on the need to preserve the environment.
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Outlook for 2022: resuming full service in uncertain times

As new COVID-19 strains threaten us and international travel 
remains disrupted, 2022 poses more challenges to the 
international travel and tourism sector and our brands. 

And yet, as our societies progressively learn to live with the 
coronavirus and collective immunity quickly strengthens, 
scientists are optimistic that the virus is evolving and will soon 
reach an endemic form. When this occurs, it will result in largely 
predictable patterns and allow individuals to enjoy greater freedom 
of movement. We have noticed how eager our guests are to 
cruise again, with over one million of them having already booked  
MSC Cruises packages since we resumed operations in August 
2020. The expectation is that consumers will once again embrace 
international travel and the trend will revert towards prepandemic 
levels. As we have shown with our introduction of health protocols, 
we are positioned to respond to consumer expectations remarkably 
fast, in terms of fleet deployment, itineraries and onboard products.

Our first task for 2022 is to complete our fleet’s resumption of service. While success is inevitably tied to the 
further evolution of the pandemic and associated limitations, we are confident that restrictions will continue to 
be progressively lifted in the months ahead as countries adopt more practical arrangements for their response 
to COVID-19. Closely related to this is our mission to once again reach every market and region where our ships 
operated before the pandemic, including Asia and Australasia.

With another two large vessels scheduled for delivery in the last quarter of the year – MSC Seascape and  
MSC World Europa – the MSC Cruises fleet will grow once again. This new tonnage will double our capacity 
compared to 2017 and consolidate our position as the world’s third largest cruise line by passenger capacity. 
With this come opportunities to further increase our global footprint. MSC World Europa’s first mission following 
her entry into service in November will be to host international travellers and football fans in Doha and showcase 
our brand during the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™. The naming ceremonies for our two new vessels will take 
place in New York City and Doha, respectively, generating visibility for our brand in key markets.

In 2020 we focused on tackling the immediate challenges that the pandemic had brought and developed a 
framework for our return to operations. In 2021, we implemented our plan for the resumption and accelerated our 

fleet’s return to sea. In 2022, we have a real opportunity 
to complete the process and emerge stronger from this 
downturn. Despite the unprecedented challenges that 
still lie ahead, we have never stopped planning for our 
future and investing in our assets and people, ashore 
and on board. 

With the backing of the MSC Group, we have been able to 
offset some of the critical challenges that the pandemic 
brought. Thanks to the Group’s financial strength, privately 
held and family-owned structure, we have strongly 
controlled our debt during the downturn. 
We have also secured the Company’s continued financial 
viability in the current limited revenue environment and 
focus on our longterm outlook. Our business has proven 
to be resilient to this unprecedented crisis and this has 
allowed us to continue investing while maintaining a 
relatively low level of incremental debt compared to our 
industry peers.

The cruise industry finds itself at a critical juncture and 
we know well that the actions that we take today will 
have a major impact on our prospects for decades to 
come. We are using this challenging period to maximise 
economic efficiency, build a solid base for our Company’s 
further growth and position ourselves as a global industry 
leader. Despite the current circumstances, we have never 
stopped looking towards the future with optimism and we 
know that we are in the best possible position to capitalise 
on growth as quarantines, travel restrictions and other 
restrictive measures are progressively lifted.

In the year ahead, we aim to 
complete our fleet’s resumption 
of service and seek to once again 
reach every market where we 
operated before the pandemic, 
including Asia and Australasia. 
We will launch two large vessels 
by end-2022, new tonnage 
that will double our capacity 
compared to 2017. Meanwhile, 
continued backing from our 
parent, MSC Group, will allow us 
to further improve our financial 
situation and help us grow as 
quarantines, travel restrictions 
and other restrictive measures 
are progressively lifted.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

TOTAL REVENUES - in millions of Euros
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

For the year ended 31 December
in millions of Euros 2021 2020
Total revenues 788.5 705.4
Operating loss (781.7) (796.6)
Net loss (935.1) (938.8)
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*  Number of ships available differs in 2020 and 2021 from the number of operating ships in the period. 
**  ALBDs (Available Lower Berth Days) is a standard measure of passenger capacity for the period, which the Group uses to perform rate and capacity variance analyses to determine the main non-capacity-driven factors that cause cruise revenues and 

expenses to vary. ALBDs assumes that each cabin the Group offers for sale accommodates two passengers and is computed by multiplying passenger capacity by revenue-producing ship operating days in the period.
***  Due to the impact of COVID-19 in 2020 and 2021, yield comparison is not meaningful.
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TOTAL PASSENGERS CARRIED
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EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Execution of our plan to gradually resume fleet operations is on track. Starting with only one ship 

operating in January 2021, by the end of the year, 13 out of an available 19 ships – representing 

almost 80 percent of MSC Cruises’ guest capacity – were back in operation. We are now on 

track to complete the fleet’s resumption of service by summer 2022. During 2021, our Group 

built on the successful implementation of its industry-first health and safety protocol, leading to 

the safe resumption of cruise operations in all its main markets and achieving a high level of 

customer satisfaction. The progressive rollout of vaccines, coupled with a reduction and lifting 

of travel restrictions during the year, turned into a positive response on booking activity every 

time we were able to confirm our cruise programs. Our global footprint and our ability to learn 

and adapt quickly to changing pandemic conditions allowed us to constantly ramp-up operations 

throughout the year.

Our ships operated in multiple locations in 2021, including summer season deployments in 

Western and Eastern Mediterranean, Northern Europe and the Caribbean. In the same period, we 

opened a brand-new destination in Saudi Arabia with Red Sea itineraries, setting the foundations 

for further operations in the region. During the winter season we returned to South Africa, the 

United Arab Emirates and South America, and continued ship deployments in the Mediterranean 

and Caribbean. Also, for the first time ever in winter, in 2021 we debuted cruises in Saudi Arabia 

and in Northern Europe, stopping at Baltic capitals. Our ships’ occupancy rates peaked above 

80% during high summer season and averaged at around 54% occupancy over the full year. We 

are extremely proud of such results, especially considering that we experienced shortened time-

to-market and close-to-departure booking trends.

Throughout this crisis, we never stopped believing in our industry’s bright future. 

In 2021 we took delivery of two new ships. MSC Virtuosa, built by Chantiers de l’Atlantique 

in France, was delivered in February and entered into service a few months later, cruising in 

Northern Europe out of United Kingdom itineraries. The ship is now deployed in the Emirates 

region. MSC Seashore, built by Fincantieri in Italy, was delivered in July and entered into service 

immediately after, cruising in the Mediterranean. The ship is now deployed in the Caribbean. Such 

deliveries witness our commitment to further sustainable growth and contribute to strengthen our 

leadership in the industry.

Still in 2021, we launched our new luxury brand, Explora Journeys, and opened sales for the first 

luxury ship, which will enter into service in summer 2023. Two more ships of this new brand are 

currently under construction at Fincantieri in Italy as well and are expected to be delivered in 

2023 and 2024 respectively.

Three other ships of the contemporary segment are currently under construction for deliveries in 

late 2022 and mid-2023. 

And we continued to advance with our cruise terminals portfolio. We completed construction, 

in December 2021, of our new terminal in Durban, while construction work is moving ahead in 

Barcelona. In December 2021, we signed financing facilities for the construction of our Miami 

terminal, which may become the largest cruise terminal in the world.

In the longer term, sustainability is the key priority for our Group. 2021 will also be remembered 

for our pledge to achieve net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. To achieve this, we are 

helping develop the technologies that can take us close to this target. Starting with MSC World 

Europa and MSC Euribia, our first two LNG-powered ships under construction and slated for 

delivery in late 2022 and mid-2023, respectively.

The extension of the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the Group’s financial results and liquidity. 

During the year, we undertook several proactive cost reduction and cash conservation measures 

to mitigate the financial and operational impacts of COVID-19. We continued to prioritise and 

bolster liquidity while taking steps to strengthen our balance sheet through a deleveraging 
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strategy that will continue in 2022. In this respect, our sole shareholder, MSC Mediterranean 

Shipping Company Holding SA, has firmly supported our Group, either via equity contribution 

or via shareholder loan (See Note 23 Related Parties of the consolidated financial statements).

We look at 2022 as a year of return to full operations. However, uncertainties remain as to 

the specifics and timing of the pandemic’s development; we will adapt our cruise operations 

accordingly. 

The cruise industry finds itself at a critical juncture and we know well that the actions that we 

take today will have a major impact on our prospects for decades to come. We are using this 

challenging period to maximise economic efficiency, build a solid base for our Company’s further 

growth and position ourselves as a global industry leader. Despite the current circumstances, 

we have never stopped looking towards the future with optimism and we know that we are 

in the best possible position to capitalise on growth as quarantines and travel restrictions are 

progressively left behind.

Financial measurements

Revenues from our cruise and cruise-related activities are recognised as “passenger tickets” 

and “onboard and other revenues”. Passenger ticket revenues as well as onboard revenues vary 

according to product offering, the size of the ship in operation, the length of cruises operated and 

the markets in which the ship operates. Our revenues are seasonal, based on the demand for 

cruises, which has historically been strongest in Europe during the summer months. Passenger 

ticket revenues primarily consist of revenues for accommodation, meals, certain types of onboard 

entertainment, and include revenues for service charges, air and land transportation to and 

from the ship that guests choose to purchase from us. Onboard revenues primarily consist of 

revenues from beverage sales, retail sales, shore excursions, gaming, speciality dining, certain 

spa services and photo services. Our cruise operating expenses are classified as follows:

-  Commission, transportation and other related expenses primarily consist of direct costs 

associated with passenger ticket revenues. These costs include travel agent commissions, 

passenger taxes, air and land transportation expenses; 

-  Onboard and other related expenses primarily consist of direct costs that are incurred in 

connection with onboard revenues. These include costs incurred in connection with beverage 

sales, retail sales, shore excursions, gaming and photo services; 

-  Crew payroll and related expenses consist of the cost of wages and benefits for shipboard 

employees; 

-  Fuel expenses include fuel costs, the impact of certain fuel hedges and fuel delivery costs; 

-  Food expenses consist of food costs for passengers and crew on our ships; 

-  Other expenses consist of repairs and maintenance, port expenses, ship insurance and other 

ship expenses. 
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Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). We use certain non-IFRS financial measurements such 

as Net passenger ticket revenues, Net onboard revenues, Net cruise costs and Net cruise costs 

excluding fuel expenses to enable us to analyse our performance. We utilise Net revenues and 

Net yield to manage our business on a day-to-day basis and believe that they are the most 

relevant measurements of our revenue performance because they reflect the revenues earned 

by us net of significant variable costs. In measuring our ability to control costs in a manner that 

positively impacts net income, we believe changes in Net cruise costs and Net cruise costs 

excluding fuel to be the most relevant indicators of our performance. We express our revenues 

and expenses in yield which is a measurement of the main non-capacity-driven factors that cause 

our revenues and expenses to vary. Yield is calculated by dividing revenues and expenses by 

Available Lower Berth Days (capacity days), a standard measurement in the cruise industry which 

is obtained by multiplying an assumed two passengers per cabin by revenue-generating cruise 

days. Occupancy rates in excess of 100% indicate that three or more passengers occupied some 

passenger cabins. Net yield consequently represents our net revenues per capacity days. We use 

Net revenues and Net yields to manage our business on a day-to-day basis, believing it to be 

the most relevant measurement of our pricing performance since it reflects the cruise revenues 

earned by us net of our most significant variable costs, such as Commissions, transportation and 

other tour-operating expenses, onboard and other expenses.

Selected statistical and financial data

Our financial results have been negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, which has 

significantly affected and will continue to affect the comparability of the selected statistical and 

financial data. Refer to section Executive Overview above and to the Notes to the consolidated 

financial statements included herein for additional information about COVID-19.

In 2021, we operated 13 ships, out of 19 available. As a direct result of the resumption of our 

cruise operations during the year, our overall capacity increased by 65%, from 5.0 million to 

8.3 million Available Lower Berth Days. In 2021, we welcomed 723 thousand passengers, an 

increase of 5.5% compared to the previous year. Our ship occupancy achieved 54% while the 

ship occupancy was 95% in 2020 (The latter being driven by full fleet operations pre-pandemic 

disruption). 
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The following table presents selected statistical information:

For the year ended 31 December

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Operating loss before taxation (781.7)  (796.6)

Amortisation and depreciation 385.3  359.2

Impairment of non-current assets -  9.3  

EBITDA (396.4)  (428.1)

Impairment of current assets 5.7  11.6  

Provisions and other non-cash items 2.0  82.9  

Adjusted EBITDA (388.7) (333.6)

For the year ended 31 December

in millions of Euros except for Yield 2021 2020

Total revenues 788.5  705.4  

Operating loss (781.7) (796.6)  

Net loss (935.1) (938.8)

Net cruise revenues Yield* 70.3  97.8  

Net cruise costs excluding fuel Yield* (99.9)  (147.2)  

Total assets 12,863.3 11,135.2  

Financial debt 7,277.8 5,488.1  

Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings 704.6  714.8  

Total equity 3,269.1 3,724.9 

* Due to the impact of COVID-19 in 2020 and 2021, yield comparison is not meaningful.

The operating data as a percentage of total gross cruise revenues is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December

in % 2021 2020

Passenger ticket revenues 58.2 72.5

Onboard and other revenues 41.8 27.5

Gross cruise revenues 100.0 100.0

Commission, transportation and other related expenses (12.7) (19.7)

Onboard and other related expenses (13.4) (10.8)

Crew payroll and related expenses (31.0) (26.4)

Fuel expenses (19.1) (25.6)

Food expenses (5.5) (6.4)

Other operating expenses (29.4) (36.7)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (38.6) (35.0)

Share of profit/(loss) of associates and joint ventures (0.5) -

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (48.9) (52.2)

Operating loss (99.1) (112.8)

Interest expenses (23.8) (21.9)

Other expenses (2.7) (0.3)

Gain on derivatives 1.0 1.2

Net loss before tax (124.6) (133.8)

Income taxes 6.0 0.7

Net loss (118.6) (133.1)

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

No. of ships 19 17

Operating days 2,086 1,543

Available Lower Berth days (ALBDs) 8,285,424 5,011,719

Total passenger carried 723,201 685,247

% Occupancy Total Berths 54.0% 95.2%
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The following table shows our operational revenues and costs details:
For the year ended 31 December

in millions of Euros except for ALBDs and yield 2021 2020

Passenger ticket revenues 459.1 511.0

Onboard and other revenues 329.4 194.4

Gross cruise revenues 788.5 705.4

Less cruise costs   

Commissions, transportations and others (99.9) (139.3)

Onboard and others (106.0) (75.9)

Net passenger ticket revenues 359.2 371.7

Net onboard and other revenues 223.4 118.5

Net cruise revenues 582.6 490.2

ALBDs 8,285,424 5,011,719

Gross cruise revenues Yield 95.2 140.8

Net cruise revenues Yield 70.3 97.8

Net passenger ticket revenues Yield 43.4 74.2

Net onboard and other revenues Yield 27.0 23.6

Cruise operating expenses (880.3) (886.9)

Cruise selling and administrative expenses (304.6) (246.6)

Gross cruise costs (1,184.9) (1,133.5)

Less cruise costs included in net cruise revenues   

Commissions, transportations and others (99.9) (139.3)

Onboard and others (106.0) (75.9)

Net cruise costs (979.0) (918.3)

Less fuel (150.9) (180.7)

Net cruise costs excluding fuel (828.1) (737.6)

ALBDs 8,285,424 5,011,719

Gross cruise costs Yield (143.0) (226.2)

Net cruise costs Yield (118.2) (183.2)

Net cruise costs excluding fuel Yield (99.9) (147.2)
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors consists of three members and is composed by the family owner of the 

Company in such a way to ensure all competencies required to execute its strategic oversight 

and control over MSC Cruises. The members of the Board of Directors are elected by the Annual 

General Meeting for a term of one year.

Pierfrancesco Vago Chairman

Gianluigi Aponte Vice-Chairman

Alexa Aponte Director

Board meetings are held periodically and when matters require a meeting. The Chairman sets 

the agenda for each Board meeting. Decisions may also be made by circulation in writing or by 

telecommunication.

Top Management

The Top Management is responsible for all areas of operational management of the Company 

that are not specifically reserved to the Board of Directors. The Top Management is responsible 

for developing the Company’s strategic as well as long-term business and financial plans.

Pierfrancesco Vago Executive Chairman

Gianni Onorato Chief Executive Officer

Alfonso Piccirillo Chief Financial Officer

The Top Management approves investments, leasing agreements, divestments, business projects, 

and prepares the business plan of the Company and the budget.

Risk Management

MSC Cruises is committed to the principles of modern corporate governance and aims to provide 

all stakeholders with the greatest possible transparency. The internal risk management process is 

under the responsibility of the Top Management and addresses the risks on a Group-wide basis. 

The internal Audit provides assurance on the effectiveness of the risk management process 

whereas the External Auditors provide assurance that the consolidated financial statements give 

a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 

and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 

ended.

External Auditors

KPMG SA, Audit Western Switzerland is appointed as statutory auditor for the financial year 2021. 

The rotation of the lead auditor follows legally required maximum duration of seven years in 

accordance with art. 730 para. 2 of the Swiss Code of Obligations. Since 2021, the responsible 

lead auditor has been Mr. Carlos Alvarez (previously Mr. Peter Dauwalder from 2016 to 2020).
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STATUTORY AUDITOR’S REPORT

 
 

Statutory Auditor's Report 
To the General Meeting of MSC Cruises SA, Geneva 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MSC Cruises SA and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements (pages 28 to 77) give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss 
Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit 
profession, as well as the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

 Implications of the COVID-19 pandemic for the going concern basis 
  
    Revenue recognition 
 
 
 Property, plant and equipment 

  

 Tradenames 
 
 Related party transactions 
  
 
 
 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

 
 

 
 

  
Implications of the COVID-19 pandemic for the going concern basis 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 Management believes that the ongoing effects of 
COVID-19 on the Group’s operations and global 
bookings have had, and will continue to have, a 
significant impact on the Group’s financial results and 
liquidity.  

Management has taken several measures to improve 
the Group’s liquidity, including capital expenditure and 
operating expense reductions, including moving the 
Group’s ships to warm lay-up, amending its export 
credit agreements to defer payment and covenants 
requirements, and pursuing new financing 
opportunities and capital market transactions. 

The principal assumptions used in management’s 
future cash flow projections used to estimate future 
liquidity requirements consisted of the expected 
gradual resumption of cruise operations; the expected 
lower than comparable historical occupancy levels 
during the resumption of cruise operations and the 
expected refinancing of the EUR 600 million revolving 
credit facility expiring in February 2023.  

Based on these actions and considering the principal 
assumptions for future cash flow projections, 
management has concluded that the Group has 
sufficient liquidity to satisfy its obligations for at least 
the next twelve months. 

This assessment required significant management 
judgment. We therefore identified management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements as 
a key audit matter. 

We inquired with management and the Board of 
Directors as to the influence of the COVID-19 
pandemic and its travel restrictions on MSC Cruises, 
both direct and indirect and in the short and medium 
term. We discussed the key assumptions and 
scenarios used by the management in their 
assessment. 
 
We analysed the Group’s future cash flow projections 
prepared by management. We challenged the 
robustness of key assumptions used by management 
in the cash flow forecasts. We also assessed 
management’s forecasting accuracy by comparing 
prior period forecasts to the actual outcome.  
 
Based on our understanding of the Group and the 
cruise industry, we critically assessed the impacts of 
the measures taken by management relating to 
forecast income and expenditure, the deferral of debt 
repayments and financial covenants, as well as the 
capital expenditure, and we recalculated the liquidity 
planning. We also challenged management with 
respect to the more severe adverse scenario and the 
feasibility of potential additional measures.  
 
We also assessed the availability of credit facilities by 
inspecting agreements signed both before and after 
the reporting date.  
 
Furthermore, we considered the appropriateness of 
the information disclosed.  
 

 For further information on the implications of COVID-19 refer to the following: 

— Note 2.1, Basis of Preparation 

— Note 3, Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates 

— Note 24, Subsequent Events 
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Revenue recognition 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 In 2021, the Group has revenue from passenger tickets 
amounting to EUR 459 million and on board and other 
revenues amounting to EUR 329 million. As at 
31 December 2021, customer deposits amount to EUR 
222 million and time charter advances amount to EUR 
379 million. 

Revenue from the sale of passenger tickets for cruise 
voyages and from onboard services is recorded when 
the related service is provided, in proportion to the state 
of completion of the voyage. Revenue from onboard 
sales is recognized when the goods are delivered to the 
customers. Customer deposits and time charter 
advances represent unearned revenue from advance 
ticket sales for future voyages and are initially recorded 
as liabilities. 

We focused on the revenue recognition to address the 
risk that revenue is not recorded in the appropriate 
period relating to cruises that straddle the year-end and 
for revenue that has been received in advance of the 
cruise departure, which is deferred until the voyage takes 
place. 

We considered the appropriateness of the Group’s 
revenue recognition accounting policies with 
particular emphasis on the risk identified opposite.  

We assessed and tested the operating effectiveness 
of relevant internal controls over revenue recognition. 
We also evaluated the appropriateness of the 
Group’s customer deposits and time charter 
advances by taking a sample of the unearned 
revenues for future cruise voyages and assessing 
whether they were accurately recorded. 

We assessed the Group’s cut-off adjustment for 
cruise voyages over year-end by comparing 
management’s estimate to data such as cruise 
departure dates, duration, and related cruise voyages 
revenue and cost. 

We also considered the appropriateness of the 
Group’s disclosures in respect of revenue as well as 
customer deposits and time charter advances 
throughout the financial statements. 

 

 For further information on revenue refer to the following: 

— Note 2.7, Revenue Recognition 

— Note 4, Segment Reporting 

 

 
Property, plant and equipment 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 The Group carries significant amounts of property, 
plant and equipment on the statement of financial 
position, mainly in the form of ships. As at 
31 December 2021, the net book value of property, 
plant and equipment amounted to EUR 9.282 million. 
In 2021, depreciation of ships amounted to 
EUR 312 million. No impairments on ships were 
recognized. 

Depreciation rates and the carrying value of ships and 
related equipment are reviewed by the Group annually 
taking into consideration factors such as changes in 
fleet composition, current and forecast market values 
and technical factors which may affect the useful life 
expectancy of the assets and therefore could have a 

We assessed the appropriateness of management's 
assertions and estimates regarding depreciation 
policies, in particular, on the useful life and residual 
value of ships by using our understanding of the 
industry. 

We also examined, with the support of internal valuation 
specialists, the impairment test prepared by the 
management and the assumptions underlying this test 
in relation to the cash generating unit (‘CGU’) to which 
these ships are allocated (refer to Key Audit Matter 
related to Tradenames). Our examination included an 
assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on the 
impairment test. 

 
 

 
 

material impact on the depreciation charge for the 
year.  

In determining whether the net book values of ships 
are appropriate or not, management is required to 
make judgements about the useful lives and residual 
values of the ships as well as their future performance. 
We therefore identified these judgements as an area 
requiring special audit consideration. 

We considered the appropriateness of disclosures in 
relation to property, plant and equipment. 

 

 

 

 

 

For further information on property, plant and equipment refer to the following: 

— Note 2.13, Property, Plant and Equipment 

— Note 2.20, Impairment of Long-lived Assets 

— Note 3, Significant accounting judgements and estimates 

— Note 11, Property, Plant and Equipment 

 

 Tradenames 

Key Audit Matter Our response 

The Group has indefinite life intangible assets 
in the form of tradenames of EUR 2.428 million 
as at 31 December 2021, which are required to 
be tested for impairment at least on an annual 
basis. In 2021, no impairment losses for 
indefinite life intangible assets were 
recognized. 

The recoverability of these assets is dependent 
on achieving a sufficient level of future net cash 
flows.  

Management applies judgment in assessing 
the future performance and prospects of the 
cash generating unit (‘CGU’) and determining 
the relevant valuation assumptions. We 
therefore identified tradenames as an area 
requiring special audit consideration. 

 

With the support of internal valuation specialists, 
we evaluated the accuracy of the impairment 
test, the appropriateness of the assumptions 
used, and the methodology used by 
management to prepare its cash flow forecast.  

We also tested the design, implementation and 
operating effectiveness of certain key controls 
over the preparation of the impairment test. 

We challenged the robustness of the key 
assumptions used to determine the recoverable 
amount, forecast cash flows, long-term growth 
rate and the discount rate based on our 
understanding of the Group. In particular, this 
included assessing the Group’s fleet, capacity 
and occupancy, as well as the impact of COVID-
19 on the impairment test. 

We also considered the appropriateness of 
disclosures on impairment testing. 

 

 

 

 

 

For further information on tradenames refer to the following: 

— Note 2.15, Tradenames 

— Note 2.20, Impairment of Long-lived Assets 

— Note 3, Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates 

— Note 12, Tradenames, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
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Related party transactions 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 There have been numerous transactions with 
counterparties where the Group or key management 
personnel of the Group have interests and/or are 
directors, and the Group carries a number of balances 
with related parties.  

There is a risk that not all related party transactions 
are disclosed in the financial statements, and 
therefore that insufficient information is provided in 
order to enable the reader to understand the nature 
and effect of the various related party relationships 
and transactions. Additionally, there is a risk that such 
transactions are not recognized in accordance with the 
relevant accounting requirements.  

We compared the list of related parties provided by 
management with internal and external sources to 
evaluate whether all related party relationships and 
transactions have been appropriately identified, 
accounted for and disclosed.  

For each class of related party transaction and balance 
we compared the financial statements disclosures 
against the underlying transactions and the related 
accounting requirements.  

We also considered the appropriateness of disclosures 
regarding related parties. 

 For further information on related party transactions refer to the following: 

— Note 23, Related Parties 

Other Information in the Annual Report 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information 
comprises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements, the stand-alone financial statements of the company, the remuneration report and our auditor’s 
reports thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual report and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board 
of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 
 

 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

KPMG SA 
 
 
 
 
 
Carlos Alvarez 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Peter Dauwalder  
Licensed Audit Expert 

 
 
Geneva, 10 March 2022 

KPMG SA, Esplanade de Pont-Rouge 6, CH-1211 Geneva 26 
 
© 2022 KPMG AG, a Swiss corporation, is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. 
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PRIMARY STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December

in millions of Euros Notes 2021 2020

Passenger ticket revenues 459.1 511.0

Onboard and other revenues 329.4 194.4

Total revenues 788.5 705.4

Commission, transportation and other related 
expenses (99.9) (139.3)

Onboard and other related expenses (106.0) (75.9)

Fuel expenses (150.9) (180.7)

Crew payroll and related expenses 5 (244.2) (185.9)

Food expenses (43.7) (45.5)

Other operating expenses (231.7) (258.8)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (304.6) (246.6)

Share of profit/ (loss) of associates and joint ventures 13 (3.9) (0.8)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 11, 12 (385.3) (368.5)

Total operating expenses (1,570.2) (1,502.0)

Operating loss (781.7) (796.6)

Interest income 3.0 2.1

Interest expenses (190.6) (155.6)

Foreign exchange losses on non-operating items (21.3) (2.3)

Gain on derivatives 19 7.6 8.8

Total non-operating expenses (201.3) (147.0)

Loss before tax (983.0) (943.6)

Income taxes 6 47.9 4.8

Net loss (935.1) (938.8)

of which attributable to owners of the parent (934.7) (938.8)

of which attributable to non-controlling interests (0.4) 0.0

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December

in millions of Euros Notes 2021 2020

Net loss (935.1) (938.8)

Remeasurements of defined benefit obligations 5 4.7 0.5

Income tax effect 6 (0.6) 0.2

Total items that will never be reclassified  
to profit or loss 4.1 0.7

Cash flow hedges 19, 22 24.5 11.3

Currency translation difference 0.7 (2.9)

Total items that may be reclassified to profit  
or loss 25.2 8.4

Other comprehensive income for the year 29.3 9.1

Total comprehensive loss for the year (905.8) (929.7)

of which attributable to owners of the parent (905.4) (929.7)

of which attributable to non-controlling interests (0.4) (0.0)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December
in millions of Euros Notes 2021 2020

Goodwill and other intangible assets 12 61.2 70.4

Tradenames 12 2,427.8 2,427.4

Property, plant and equipment 11 9,282.5 7,831.4

Investments in associates and joint ventures 13 45.1 48.1

Other non-current assets 14 58.6 63.2

Long-term receivables from related parties 23 7.5 6.9

Deferred tax assets 6 60.1 22.2

Total non-current assets 11,942.8 10,469.6

Inventories, net 9 168.6 129.2

Trade and other receivables, net 8 218.0 209.0

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 10 115.4 34.4

Cash and cash equivalents 7 418.5 293.0

Total current assets 920.5 665.6

Total assets 12,863.3 11,135.2

At 31 December
in millions of Euros Notes 2021 2020

Share capital 22 0.2 0.2

Retained earnings and reserves 3,269.2 3,724.6

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 3,269.4 3,724.8

Non-controlling interests (0.3) 0.1

Total equity 3,269.1 3,724.9

Subordinated shareholder loan 19 423.0 -

Long-term financial debt 19 6,027.1 4,664.2

Non-current provisions 17 8.9 7.2

Employee benefits 5 17.9 20.5

Deferred tax liabilities 6 207.9 237.6

Derivative financial instruments 19 31.6 58.7

Other non-current liabilities 43.2 49.4

Total non-current liabilities 6,759.6 5,037.6

Customer deposits and time charter advances 16 601.1 404.8

Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings 19 704.6 714.8

Current portion of long-term financial debt 19 827.7 823.9

Employee payables 38.3 12.8

Trade and other payables 15 603.4 323.3

Current income tax payable 2.8 2.4

Derivative financial instruments 19 - 5.0

Current provisions 17 56.7 85.7

Total current liabilities 2,834.6 2,372.7

Total liabilities 9,594.2 7,410.3

Total liabilities and equity 12,863.3 11,135.2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December

in millions of Euros

Notes Share  
capital

Retained 
earnings 

Remeasurement 
of defined benefit 

obligations

Cash flow
hedges 

Currency 
translation 
difference

Equity 
attributable  

to owners  
of the parent

Non-
controlling 

interests

Total  
equity

Balance as at 1 January 2020 0.2 4,600.2 (5.4) (49.2) (0.8) 4,545.0 0.1 4,545.1

Loss for the year - (938.8) - - - (938.8) 0.0 (938.8)

Effects of the hyperinflation - 0.2 - - - 0.2 0.0 0.2

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year 22 - - 0.7 11.3 (2.9) 9.1 (0.0) 9.1

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - (938.6) 0.7 11.3 (2.9) (929.5) (0.0) (929.5)

Transactions with owners of the Company 23 - 109.3 - - - 109.3 - 109.3

Balance as at 31 December 2020 22 0.2 3,770.9 (4.7) (37.9) (3.7) 3,724.8 0.1 3,724.9

Loss for the year - (934.7) - - - (934.7) (0.4) (935.1) 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year 22 - - 4.1 24.5 0.7 29.3 - 29.3

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - (934.7) 4.1 24.5 0.7 (905.4) (0.4) (905.8)

Transactions with owners of the Company 23 - 450.0 - - - 450.0 - 450.0

Balance at 31 December 2021 22 0.2 3,286.2 (0.6) (13.4) (3.0) 3,269.4 (0.3) 3,269.1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December

in millions of Euros Notes 2021 2020

Net loss (935.1) (938.8)

Interest income (3.0) (2.1)

Interest expenses 190.6 155.6

Foreign exchange losses on non-operating items 21.3 2.3

Gain on derivatives (7.6) (8.8)

Income taxes 6 (47.9) (4.8)

Operating loss (781.7) (796.6)

Impairment losses on trade receivables and inventories 8, 9 5.7 11.6

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 11, 12 385.3 368.5

Provisions 17 (20.3) 82.9

Share of (profit)/ loss of associates and joint ventures 13 3.9 0.8

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1.0) -

Adjustments for non-cash items 373.6 463.8

Change in trade and other receivable, net of allowance (63.0) 153.5

Change in inventories, net of allowance (41.1) 30.8

Change in prepaid expenses and other current assets (35.3) 86.5

Change in trade and other payables 292.2 (162.0)

Change in customer deposits and time charter advances 193.8 (222.1)

Change in employee payables 25.5 (32.3)

Utilisation of provisions 17 (6.7) (2.9)

Change in employee benefits 1.5 2.1

Change in other non-current liabilities (5.9) (0.3)

Decrease/ (increase) in working capital 361.0 (146.7)

Income taxes paid (19.8) (21.1)

Cash flow from operating activities (66.9) (500.6)

For the year ended 31 December

in millions of Euros Notes 2021 2020

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11 (1,639.5) (280.1)

Acquisition of intangible assets 12 (14.3) (13.5)

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 23 - 10.6

Interest received 2.8 0.4

Investments in associates and joint ventures 13 (5.5) (10.0)

Proceeds from property, plant and equipment 9.0 -

Other non-current assets (3.6) 26.1

Receivables from related parties 23 49.6 2.3

Dividends from joint ventures 13 - 0.2

Cash flow from investing activities (1,601.5) (264.0)

Capital contribution 22 450.0 -

Proceeds from financial debt 1,894.3 479.0

Repayment of financial debt (399.6) (162.5)

Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings (9.7) 685.0

Interest paid (143.0) (117.4)

Cash flow from financing activities 1,792.0 884.1

Net effect of exchange rate movements  
on cash and cash equivalents 1.9 (9.4)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 125.5 110.1

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 293.0 182.9

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 418.5 293.0
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1. Group Organisation

MSC Cruises SA (hereafter “the Company”), incorporated on 7 March 2006 and registered in 

Geneva, Switzerland, is a wholly owned subsidiary of MSC Mediterranean Shipping Company 

Holding SA (hereafter “the parent Company”). The ultimate controlling party is the Aponte family.

MSC Cruises SA and its subsidiaries (hereafter “the Group”) operate under the name MSC Cruises.

The Group is one of the largest cruise operators with a modern fleet of 19 ships combined with 

a sizeable future global investment portfolio of new ships. The fleet is projected to grow to 27 

cruises ships by 2026.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Group’s presentation 

currency. All amounts have been disclosed in millions with a decimal, and rounded to the nearest 

hundred thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 

modified as required for the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 

through the profit or loss. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration 

given in exchange for goods and services. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 

the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated 

using another valuation technique.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure 

of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues 

and expenses during the reporting period. It also requires management to exercise its judgement 

in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Critical accounting judgments are 

disclosed in Note 3 Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates.

Going Concern
The Group is gradually returning to full fleet operations.

During the year 2021, the Group has built on the successful implementation of its industry-

first health and safety protocol, operating safely in all its main markets and achieving a high 

level of customer satisfaction. The vaccination campaigns around the globe, together with the 

progressive release of the protective measures against the COVID-19 had positive impacts 

on the operation and occupancy level during the summer season 2021. The Group in that 

period was able to resume up to 12 ships distributed across Mediterranean, Northern Europe, 

Caribbean and Saudi Arabia - Red Sea. It continued to build on such positive results during the 

winter season returning to South Africa, United Arab Emirates and South America, continuing 

operating in Mediterranean and Caribbean, and debuting, during that season, in Saudi Arabia 

- Red Sea and Northern Europe. A total of 13 ships were in operations at year-end 2021, 

out of the 19 available, representing almost 80% of MSC Cruises’ guest capacity. The total 

occupancy peaked at 80% in the month of August and then averaged at around 54% over the 

full year.
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During the year 2021, the Group executed the additional 12-month debt holiday initiative (the 

Second Debt Holiday) amending all the related export-credit backed facilities. The measure 

allowed to defer an aggregate amount of EUR 737.4 million which will be repaid over a five-year 

period starting in April 2022 (see Note 19.2 Financial Debt). It has also extended of 364 days its 

EUR 600.0 million Revolving Credit Facility. The facility was originally set to expire in February 

2022 and has been extended up to February 2023.

MSC Mediterranean Shipping Company Holding SA, the sole shareholder of the MSC Cruises 

Group, has firmly supported the Group during the various phases of the pandemic and allowed 

to bolster the liquidity position and strengthen the Group’s balance sheet position. The Group 

has benefitted from an aggregate amount of EUR 872.5 million, provided either in the form of 

shareholder loan or as equity contribution (see Note 23 Related Parties).

As at 31 December 2021, cash and cash equivalent amounts to EUR 418.5 million (2020: EUR 

293.0 million), and the Revolving Credit Facility remains fully utilised.

The extension of the COVID-19 pandemic still impacts the Group’s financial results and liquidity. 

In this context, the management built up scenarios with assumptions that management considers 

to realistically reflect various risks and uncertainties such as occupancy level and liquidity 

availability over a period of more than 12 months from the date of authorisation of the Group’s 

Board of Directors of these consolidated financial statements.

The estimation of the future cash flow projections includes the following principal assumptions:

 - Expected staggered ramp-up to full fleet operation by spring 2022;

 - Expected occupancy level ranging from 70% during winter season to 90% during the summer 

season;

 - Expected deliveries of new ships as per ship building contracts in place;

 - Expected refinancing of the EUR 600.0 million Revolving Credit Facility due in February 2023.

The Group is continually taking measures to improve its liquidity from the operations through tight 

costs control going along with the fleet deployment, and from financing through capital management 

restructuring opportunities including the waiving of debt covenants (see Note 19.2 Financial Debt).

The Group has negotiated and obtained a waiver extension, in addition to the one allowed by the 

Second Debt Holiday, for certain of its covenants and with reference to the financial year ending 31 

December 2022.

In December 2021, the Group’s shareholder has committed for an additional support in the form 

of shareholder loans of up to EUR 450.0 million to be granted to the Group for EUR 250.0 million 

in January 2022 and EUR 200.0 million, if necessary, in February 2023. January 2022 support 

has been cashed as committed.

More recently, in February 2022, the Group’s shareholder has confirmed a further support in the 

form of a shareholder loan amounting to EUR 600.0 million to allow the Group paying down the 

full amount of the drawn Revolving Credit Facility. Funds are planned to be received within March 

2022 to pay down the equivalent amount by the end of the same month.  Such measures are, to 

a greater extent, strengthening the Group’s balance sheet position and confirm the willingness 

of the shareholder to continue supporting the MSC Cruises Group over the evolution of the 

pandemic and throughout the resumption of the full fleet operations.

In the light of the above, the management concluded that the Group has sufficient liquidity to 

satisfy the Group’s obligations for at least the next 12 months from the date of authorisation of 

the Board of Directors of these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 

10 March 2022.
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures Standards, 
Amendments and Interpretations effective in 2021

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the annual financial statements for 

the year ended 31 December 2020, as described in the 2020 consolidated financial statements, 

with the expectations of the adoption as of 1 January 2021 of the standards and interpretations 

described below:

Amendments to IFRS 16: Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions provide lessees with an 

exemption from assessing whether a Covid-19 related rent concession is a lease modification. 

The Group has not applied the available exemption.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16: Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform – Phases 2 address issues that might affect financial reporting when an existing interest 

rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative interest rate benchmark. The amendments relate to 

the modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, specific hedge accounting 

requirements and disclosure requirements applying IFRS 7 to accompany the amendments 

regarding modifications and hedge accounting. The adoption of these amendments has no impact 

for the Group as the Group only uses the Euribor which is no impacted by the IBOR reform.

2.3 Accounting and Disclosures Standards, Amendments  
and Interpretations not yet adopted

The Group is currently reviewing new and revised standards and interpretations, issued but not 

yet effective, to identify the nature of the future changes in accounting policy and to estimate the 

effect of any necessary changes in the consolidated financial statements and supporting notes 

upon their adoption.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 provides a streamlined process for 

dealing efficiently with a collection of amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases and IAS 41 Agriculture.

Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 

prohibit the deduction of proceeds from selling items produced before an item of property, plant 

and equipment (PP&E) is available for use from the cost of that PP&E.

Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract specify that the 

“cost of fulfilling” a contract comprises the “costs that relate directly to a contract and includes 

incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to 

fulfilling contracts.

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current affect 

only the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position by clarifying that the 

classification (a) should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting 

period, and (b) is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to 

defer settlement of a liability.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, 

presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts.

Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from 
a Single Transaction clarifies how companies account for deferred tax on leases and 

decommissioning obligations.
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Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates clarifies the distinction between 

a change in an accounting policy and a change in an accounting estimate.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
provides guidance in determining which accounting policies to disclose.

2.4 Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the parent entity 

and the entities controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Group. The Group controls an entity when 

the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 

has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Entities acquired during the year are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred 

to the group, and subsidiaries to be divested are included up to the date on which control passes 

to the acquirer.

Assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows resulting from inter-company 

transactions are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted by applying the acquisition method of accounting. The 

cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets transferred, shares issued 

and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 

contingent liabilities assumed are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. Goodwill is recognised as the excess of the cost 

of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired.

Business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control are accounted for 

applying the acquisition method of accounting. To the extent that the acquisition accounting gives 

rise to an apparent gain on a bargain purchase, such amount is recognised in equity as a capital 

contribution from the shareholders.

Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity. Initially, 

they are measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the 

acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Subsequent to the acquisition, the carrying amount of non-

controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling 

interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.
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2.5 Investments in Joint Ventures and Associates

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the Group has a joint control and rights to the net 

assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 

arrangement, which exists when the strategic, financial and operating decisions relating to the 

activities of the joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a 

subsidiary nor a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and 

operating policy decisions of the investee but it is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results, assets and liabilities of joint venture and associates are accounted for in the 

consolidated financial statement using the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the 

investment is initially recognised at cost and subsequently adjusted to recognise the Group’s 

share of the profit or loss and of the other comprehensive income and of distributions of the joint 

venture or associate. Adjustments are made where necessary to bring the accounting policies in 

line with those adopted by the Group.

2.6 Foreign Currency Valuations

Functional and Presentation Currency
Transactions included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using 

the functional currency of that entity. The functional currency is determined by references to the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates and is normally the currency of the 

entity in which the entity generates and expenses cash. The consolidated financial statements 

are presented in euro, which is the Group’s presentation currency. 

Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate 

prevailing on the date of the transaction or using a rate that approximates the exchange rate on 

the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 

such transactions and from the translation at the reporting period-end rates of monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Translation of the Financial Statements of Foreign Subsidiaries
For entities with functional currencies other than the Euro (foreign operations), assets and 

liabilities are translated into euro using the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting 

period. Cash flows, income and expenses are translated at the monthly exchange rate when it is 

considered a reasonable approximation of the underlying transaction rate. All resulting exchange 

differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

The exchange rates to Euro of the main foreign currencies are as follows:

Currency ISO code 31 Dec 2021 Average 2021 31 Dec 2020 Average 2020

ARS 116.32 112.32 103.26 80.78

BRL 6.32 6.38 6.38 5.88

CHF 1.03 1.08 1.08 1.07

GBP 0.84 0.86 0.90 0.89

USD 1.13 1.18 1.23 1.14

ZAR 18.04 17.49 17.93 18.78

2.7 Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured based on consideration specified in the contracts with customers and is 

recognised when the related performance obligations are satisfied.
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Most of the Group’s revenues are derived from passenger cruise contracts which are reported 

within Passenger ticket revenues in the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income.

The Group’s performance obligation under these contracts is to provide a cruise vacation in 

exchange for the ticket price.

The Group satisfies this performance obligation over the duration of each cruise and recognises 

revenue relating to the sale of cruise voyages in profit or loss in proportion to the state of 

completion of the cruise voyage, which is assessed by reference to the number of days completed 

as a proportion of total voyage days.

The Group offers to its guests, different cruise fare options. Cruise ticket prices generally 

include cruise fare and a broad array of onboard activities and amenities, as well as meals and 

entertainment. In some instances, cruise ticket prices include round-trip airfare to and from the 

port of embarkation, complimentary beverages, free internet and pre-cruise hotel packages. 

Prices vary depending on the particular cruise itinerary, stateroom category selected and the time 

of year that the voyage takes place. 

During the voyage, the Group generates onboard and other revenue for additional products 

and services which are not included in the cruise fare, including casino operations, sales of 

certain beverages, variety of speciality restaurants and dining options, gift and retail shop items, 

shore excursions, spa/salon and fitness services, photography services, internet and other 

telecommunication services and other similar items. While some onboard goods and services may 

be prepaid prior to the voyage, revenue from onboard sales of goods is recognised when the control 

is transferred to the guests which is the point in time when the goods are delivered to the guests. 

Passenger ticket revenues also include time charter revenue as well as certain port fees and 

taxes when separately charged to the passengers.

As a practical expedient, the Group has omitted disclosures on the remaining performance 

obligations as the duration of the contracts with customers is less than a year.

2.8 Customer Deposits

The Group payment terms generally require an upfront deposit to confirm a reservation, with the 

balance due prior to the cruise. Upfront deposits represent unearned revenues from advance 

ticket sales for future voyages and are initially recorded within customer deposits and time 

charter advances when the right to the collection of the deposit arises.

Customer deposits are generally cancellable and refundable prior to sailing, but may be subject 

to penalties, depending on the timing of cancellation. Penalties generally increase as the voyage 

sail date approaches. Cancellation fees are recognised in passenger ticket revenues in the month 

of the cancellation.

Customer deposits are subsequently recognised as cruise revenues together with all associated 

direct costs and expenses on a pro-rata basis over the period of the voyage.

Deposits received on time charter voyages are deferred when received and included in customer 

deposits and time charter advances. Deferred amounts are subsequently recognised as revenue 

evenly over the voyage sailing dates.

2.9 Contract Receivables

The Group generally requires full payment from customers prior to their cruise. The Group grants 

credit terms to a portion of its revenue source in selected markets. As a result, the Group has 

outstanding receivables from passenger cruise contracts in those markets. The Group also has 
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receivables from credit card merchants for cruise ticket purchases and goods and services sold 

to guests during cruises that are collected before, during or after the cruise voyage. In addition, 

the Group has receivables due from concessionaires onboard the ships. These receivables are 

included within trade and other receivables, net.

2.10 Contract Assets

Prepaid travel agent commissions are an incremental cost of obtaining contracts with customers 

that the Group recognises as an asset and includes within prepaid expenses and other current 

assets in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Prepaid travel agent commissions, as well as costs of air tickets, port taxes and fees that fulfil 

future performance obligations, are considered recoverable and are initially recorded as assets 

and then recognised in profit or loss evenly over the voyage sailing dates, concurrent with 

associated revenue.

2.11 Income Taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes as imposed by the jurisdictions in which it operates, in 

accordance with the relevant tax laws of such jurisdictions. The income taxes for the period 

comprise current and deferred income taxes. Income taxes include all taxes based upon the 

taxable profits of the Group, including tax adjustments from prior years.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business 

combination, or are items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Deferred income taxes are recognised based on the full liability method, under which deferred tax 

are recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in the consolidated statement of financial position and their respective tax bases. Deferred 

income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted, or substantively enacted, tax rates 

anticipated to apply to taxable income in the periods in which the temporary differences are 

expected to be recovered or settled. Deferred income tax assets are generally recognised for 

all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent 

that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which those items can be utilised. 

Management considers whether these tax benefits are probable based on business projections 

and taxable temporary differences on the relevant entities.

2.12 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is 

determined using the weighted average cost method. The net realisable value is the estimated 

selling price in the ordinary course of business. Previous write-downs to net realisable value are 

reversed when there is a subsequent increase in the value of such inventories.

2.13 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 

accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures directly attributable to the acquisition 

of the assets and to bringing them to a working condition intended for their use, including borrowing 

costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production (in case of a qualifying asset).

Liquidated damages received from shipyards are recorded as reductions to the cost basis of 

the asset.
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Subsequent expenditures are capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic 

benefits associated with the expenditures will flow to the Group while other costs of repairs and 

maintenance are expensed as incurred.

The estimated cost and accumulated depreciation of replaced or refurbished ship components 

are written off and any resulting losses are recognised in other operating expenses.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful asset life and 

is recognised in the income statement.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years of significant items of property, 

plant and equipment are as follows:

Ships 30 years

Ship improvements 3 - 30 years

Dry-dock costs 3 - 5 years

Buildings and improvements  20 - 45 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining lease term or useful life

Other equipment 3 - 15 years

Useful lives, components and residual amounts are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate, 

taking into consideration the impact of anticipated technological changes, long-term cruise and 

vacation market conditions and historical useful lives of similarly built ships. Depreciation for 

ships is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset net 

of a 15% projected residual value. Ship improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the 

improvements’ estimated useful lives or of the remaining estimated useful lives of the associated 

ship. The useful life of each ship is 30 years. In respect of the Renaissance programme, that aims 

to renew and enlarge ships, the useful life of the new ship sections inserted in the four Lirica 

class ships follows the residual useful life of the related ship.

Dry-dock costs primarily represent planned major ship repairs and maintenance activities which 

are incurred during the time the ship is taken out of service. At initial recognition of the ship, dry-

dock costs are recognised as a separate component, which is measured at the estimated cost 

for major planned maintenance and is depreciated over three to five years. At the time of the first 

dry-dock, maintenance costs incurred are recognised as a separate asset and are depreciated 

over three to five years until the next dry-dock takes place.

The Group reviews long-lived assets, principally its ships, for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of these assets may not be fully 

recoverable.

2.14 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill that arises on business combinations is presented with intangible assets. The Group 

initially measures goodwill as the excess of the aggregate of fair value of the consideration 

transferred, amount recognised for non-controlling interests and fair value of any previously held 

interest, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the 

net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount 

recognised for non-controlling interests and the fair value of any previously held interest, a bargain 

purchase gain is recognised on the acquisition date in the consolidated statement of income.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 

and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis 

in the income statement over their estimated useful lives from the date in which they are 

available for use.



MSC Cruises Group

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 | 48 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets with finite useful life for current and comparative 

years are as follows:

Software and IT 3-5 years

Other intangibles 3-10 years

Goodwill and other intangible assets that are deemed to have an indefinite useful life are not 

amortised, but are subject to an annual impairment test, or when events or circumstances 

dictate, more frequently.

2.15 Tradenames

All MSC Cruises Group’s ships are operated under the MSC Cruises brand, contributed from its 

parent Company. Under the MSC Cruises brand the group owns several registered tradenames 

and trademarks relating to, among other things, the names of the ships, incentive programmes 

and specialty services rendered on the ships as well as specialty accommodations.

The Group believes that the MSC Cruises brand and related tradenames and trademarks are 

widely recognised throughout the world and have considerable value. The duration of tradenames 

registrations varies from country to country. However, tradenames are generally valid and may be 

renewed indefinitely as long as they are in use and/or their registrations are properly maintained. 

The Group intends to operate under the MSC Cruises Brand for an indefinite period of time. 

Consequently, tradenames are estimated to have an indefinite useful life and are not amortisable.

Bluvacanze is one of the leading networks of travel agencies in Italy and is well known in the 

market. The main brands have a very long tradition and have been established in the market for 

decades. In fact, Cisalpina has been existing for more than 50 years and Bluvacanze for more 

than 25 years. The brands acquired in the Bluvacanze Contribution are estimated to have an 

indefinite useful life and are not amortisable.

2.16 Transactions with Owners of the Company

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners include contributions and distributions 

to owners. Contributions and distributions to owners contain formal equity contributions and 

distributions which can occur either in cash or in kind, as well as any other under-common-

control transaction in which the economic substance is to distribute or contribute equity between 

entities belonging to the same group.

2.17 Transfer of Non-monetary Assets under Common Control

Non-monetary assets, which are transferred between entities belonging to the same group (i.e. 

under common control) in which the consideration exchanged is different from the fair value of 

the asset transferred, are recognised by the receiving entity at fair value regardless of the amount 

of any consideration paid. The difference between the consideration paid and the fair value is 

recorded directly in equity within Transactions with owners of the Company.

2.18 Financial Instruments

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost
These assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any 

allowances for doubtful debts. An allowance for doubtful debts is made in compliance with the 

simplified approach equalling the lifetime expected credit loss. An allowance for doubtful debts 

is estimated using a provision matrix, which considers the outstanding amount, country risk, 

credit risk profile, forward looking macro-economic factors as well as past default experience. In 

addition, an allowance for doubtful debts is made when the collection of the amount is no longer 

probable.



MSC Cruises Group

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 | 49 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value less transaction costs 

and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Amortised cost is calculated by considering any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 

or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortisation of the effective 

interest rate is included in interest expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income.

Derivatives
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to commodity price 

fluctuation, foreign exchange rate and interest rate risks arising from operational, financing and 

investment activities. Although certain of the derivatives do not qualify or are not accounted for 

under hedge accounting, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for 

trading or other speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract date and are 

subsequently remeasured to fair value at the end of each reporting period.

The Group designates and documents certain derivatives as hedges of highly probable forecast 

transaction risks or hedges of fuel price risks or interest rate risks of firm commitments (‘cash 

flow hedges’). The portion of gains or losses relating to changes in the fair value of derivatives that 

are designated and qualify as effective cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive 

income. The Group uses the dollar offset method to measure effectiveness.

When hedge accounting is discontinued, any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income 

at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the income statement when the hedged transaction 

is ultimately recognised in the income statement. If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to 

occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

2.19 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 

contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 

asset for a period in exchange for consideration, by obtaining substantially all of the economic 

benefits from use and by directing the use of the identified asset.

The Group applies a threshold of 85% to determine whether it has the right to obtain substantially 

all of the economic benefits from the use of an identified asset.

Right-of-use Asset
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date. The 

right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 

liability adjusted for any lease payment made at or before the commencement date, plus any 

initial direct cost incurred and less any lease incentive received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 

commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the underlying asset or the end of 

the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis 

as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced 

by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.
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Lease Liability
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 

paid at the commencement date. The discount rate used is the interest rate implicit in the lease 

if that rate can be determined, or the relevant incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

 - Fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

 - Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate at the commencement date; 

 - The exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise and 

lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an 

extension option.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 

change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to 

be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of whether 

it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 

carrying amount of the right-of-use asset.

Short-term Leases and Leases of Low-value Assets
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term 

leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of low-value assets. The Group 

recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term.

2.20 Impairment of Long-lived Assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed for 

indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. If an indicator of impairment exists, 

the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated as the higher of value-in-use and fair value less 

cost to sell. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 

recoverable amount.

The Group operates under a single global cruise brand, “MSC Cruises”. The Brand “MSC Cruises” 

constitutes the only business for which discrete financial information is available. Management 

regularly reviews the operating result for the Group and, therefore, the Group has concluded that 

it has a single cash generating unit.

Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss for the period.

2.21 Operating Profit

Operating profit is the result generated from the continuing principal revenue-producing activities 

of the Group as well as other income and expenses related to operating activities. Operating profit 

excludes net financial costs and income taxes.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements 

and estimates that affect the application of accounting policies, the reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated 

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 

period.

Management relies on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed 

to be reasonable under the circumstances to make these estimates and judgements (refer to 

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies). Where applicable, management corroborates 

estimates using valuations provided by counterparties. Actual results could differ from those 

estimates.

Significant areas requiring the use of estimates and assumptions are:

 - Key assumptions and judgements used for the going concern assessment (refer to Note 2.1 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Basis of Preparation);

 - Performance obligations (refer to Note 2.7 Revenue Recognition);

 - Key assumptions and judgements used for income tax calculations and for the recognition and 

recoverability of deferred tax assets especially in relation to tax loss carry-forwards, on the 

assumption that sufficient positive tax results will probably be achieved before the expiration of 

the tax losses (refer to Note 6 Income Taxes);

 - The definition of the useful life and projected residual value of property, plant and equipment and 

the related depreciation (refer to Note 11 Property, Plant and Equipment);

 - The definition of the discount rate used to discount lease payment to determine the initial value 

of right-of-use assets (refer to Note 11 Property, Plant and Equipment) and the lease liabilities 

(refer to Note 19.3 Leases), and lease definition (refer to Note 2.19 Leases);

 - The definition of the useful life of intangible assets and tradenames (refer to Note 12 Tradenames, 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets);

 - Impairment of long-lived assets (refer to Note 11 Property, Plant and Equipment and Note 12 

Tradenames, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets);

 - Provisions (refer to Note 17 Provisions);

 - Derivatives fair value measurement (refer to Note 19.5 Fair Value Measurement).

Estimates and assumptions are revised periodically, and the effects of each change are reflected 

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period when the change took place. 

4. Segment Reporting

The Group operates a single global cruise brand, “MSC Cruises”. The Brand “MSC Cruises” 

constitutes the only business for which discrete financial information is available. Management 

regularly reviews the operating result for the Group and, therefore, the Group has concluded that 

it has a single reportable segment.

The Group sells cruises on an international basis and the passenger ticket revenues are primarily 

attributed to passengers who made reservations from the following areas:

in percent 2021 2020

Western Europe 70 40

South America 5 31

North America 8 16

South Africa 0 4

Other 17 9
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5. Employee Benefits

Employee Benefit Expenses

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Crew payroll and related expenses (244.2) (185.9)

Administrative staff (included in SG&A)

- payroll and related expenses (118.9) (101.7)

- defined benefit pension expenses (4.3) (4.9)

- defined contribution pension expenses (3.6) (2.0)

Total (371.0) (294.5)

In 2021, the subsidies in countries for which a scheme is in place to cover partial unemployment 

due to the Covid-19 pandemic amount to EUR 6.1 million (2020: EUR 13.4 million) recorded as 

a deduction of payroll and related expenses.

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan in Switzerland that covers the employees of 

MSC Cruises SA.

MSC Cruises SA is affiliated with the Swiss Life collective BVG pension fund, a collective foundation 

administrating the pension plans of various unrelated employers. MSC Cruises SA’s pension plan 

is fully segregated from the ones of other participating employers and is governed by the rules of 

the Swiss Federal Law on Occupational Retirement, Survivors’ and Disability Pension Plans (BVG). 

The retirement benefits can be drawn as a life-long pension or as a lump-sum payment and are 

determined by the final retirement savings (resulting from the yearly savings contributions by 

both employer and employee until retirement and interest thereon) and the conversion rate. The 

collective pension foundation has fully reinsured the risks of disability, death and longevity with 

an insurance company. Swiss Life provides a 100% capital and interest guarantee. However, the 

collective pension foundation can withdraw from the contract with MSC Cruises SA at any time 

and the risk premiums may be adjusted by the insurance company periodically.

The above-mentioned plan, which, from a legal standpoint, is structured as a defined contribution 

plan, is accounted for as a defined benefit plan in accordance with IAS 19 due to the underlying 

benefits guarantees. 

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position arising from the 

Group’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit plan and from other long-term employee 

benefits was as follows:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Defined benefit obligation 42.7 39.9

Fair value of plan assets (30.6) (24.9)

Net defined benefit liability 12.1 15.0

Other employee benefits 5.8 5.5

Employee benefits 17.9 20.5



MSC Cruises Group

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 | 53 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The movements in the defined benefit obligation and plan assets were as follows:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

As at 1 January 39.9 35.1

Current service cost 5.3 4.9

Past service cost (1.1) -

Interest expenses on defined benefit obligation 0.1 0.0

Employee contributions 3.9 4.1

Actuarial gain (3.6) (0.3)

Benefits paid (3.6) (4.0)

Exchange differences 1.8 0.1

As at 31 December 42.7 39.9

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

As at 1 January (24.9) (21.3)

Return on plan assets excluding interest income (0.7) (0.1)

Interest income on plan assets (0.0) (0.0)

Ordinary contributions paid by employer (3.0) (3.3)

Employee contributions (3.9) (4.1)

Benefits paid 3.6 4.0

Exchange differences (1.7) (0.1)

As at 31 December (30.6) (24.9)

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of income were as follows:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Current service cost 5.3 4.9

Past service cost (1.1) -

Interest income on plan assets (0.0) (0.0)

Interest expenses on defined benefit obligation 0.1 0.0

Total 4.3 4.9

The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income were as follows:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Return on plan assets excluding interest income 0.7 0.1

Actuarial gain 3.6 0.3

Total 4.3 0.4

The principal actuarial assumptions were as follows:

2021 2020

Discount rate 0.4% 0.2%

Salary increase 1.5% 1.5%

Retirement age M65/W64 M65/W64

Mortality table BVG 2020 GT BVG 2015 GT
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The sensitivity analysis below was based on one change in an assumption while holding all other 

assumptions constant. A change in the following assumptions would have had the following 

effects on the defined benefit obligation:
2021 2020

Sensitivity to discount rate assumptions:

- Increase discount rate + 0.50% (7.8)% (8.9)%

- Decrease discount rate - 0.50% 9.1% 10.4%

Sensitivity to salary increase rate assumptions:

- Increase salary rate + 0.50% 0.9% 1.1%

- Decrease salary rate - 0.50% (0.8)% (1.0)%

Sensitivity to mortality assumptions - 1-year life 
expectancy:

- Increase life expectancy +1 year 1.1% 1.3%

- Decrease life expectancy -1 year (1.1)% (1.3)%

Plan assets were comprised as follows:

2021 2020

Assets from insurance contracts 100.0% 100.0%

Cash and cash equivalents 0.0% 0.0%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

Expected contributions to defined benefit plans for 2022 amounted to EUR 3.4 million (2021: 

EUR 3.3 million). The expected duration of the defined benefit obligation was 16.6 years in 2021 

(2020: 19.5 years).

6. Income Taxes

Major components of income taxes included the following:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Current tax on profit for the year (20.0) (21.7)

Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.1) (0.1)

Deferred taxes 68.0 26.6

Total 47.9 4.8

Tax Rate Reconciliation

The Group derives its income from the international operation of ships and is subject to corporate 

income taxes in countries where the Group has operations and subsidiaries.

Certain Group entities involved in ship management and ship-owning activities have elected to 

enter into the United Kingdom tonnage tax regime (UK tonnage tax). Companies subject to the 

UK tonnage tax regime pay a corporate tax on a notional profit determined with reference to the 

net tonnage of qualifying ships. The requirements for a company to qualify for the UK tonnage 

tax regime include, among other matters, being subject to UK corporate income tax, operating 

qualifying ships that are strategically and commercially managed in the United Kingdom and 

fulfilling a seafarer training requirement to which UK tonnage tax companies are subject.

Group entities which are involved in the sale of cruises, marketing activities or in the provision 

of ship-related activities are subject to the taxation applicable in the specific country in which 

they operate.
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Since the Group has operations in various countries that have different tax laws and rates, the 

effective tax rate on the consolidated statement of income may vary from year to year.

The reconciliation between the reported income tax expense and the amount that would have 

arisen applying the domestic tax rate applicable to MSC Cruises SA (13.99%) was as follows:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Loss before taxes (983.0) (943.6)

Tax using MSC Cruises SA's domestic tax rate 137.5 132.0

Tax effect of (non-deductible)/ non-taxable items (6.8) (72.8)

Impact of different tax rates in foreign tax jurisdictions (5.0) (11.7)

Impact of the tonnage tax regime (1) (77.7) (42.6)

Others including adjustments in respect of prior years (0.1) (0.1)

Income Taxes 47.9 4.8

(1) Tonnage tax charge is included in Other operating expenses.

The Group does not expect to incur income taxes on future distributions of undistributed earnings 

of foreign subsidiaries and, accordingly, no deferred income taxes have been provided for the 

distribution of these earnings.

In addition to or in place of income taxes, virtually all jurisdictions where the Group’s ships call 

imposes taxes, fees and other charges based on passenger counts, ship tonnage, passenger 

capacity or some other measure, and these taxes, fees and other charges were included in 

commissions, transportation and other costs or in other ship operating expenses.

Components of Recognised Deferred Income Tax Balances

2021
in millions of Euros

Property, 
plant & 

equipment

Intangible 
assets

Revenue 
recognition

Tax loss 
carry 

forward

Other 
differences

Total

Net balance as at  
1 January (206.2) (31.0) - 15.5 6.3 (215.4)

Recognised in profit or loss 18.6 - (2.1) 57.0 (5.5) 68.0

Recognised in other  
comprehensive income - - - - (0.6) (0.6)

Currency translation effects - - - - 0.2 0.2

Net balance as at  
31 December (187.6) (31.0) (2.1) 72.5 0.4 (147.8)

Deferred tax asset 60.1

Deferred tax liabilities (207.9)

Net balance as at  
31 December (147.8)

2020
in millions of Euros

Property, 
plant & 

equipment

Intangible 
assets

Revenue 
recognition

Tax loss 
carry 

forward

Other 
differences

Total

Net balance as at  
1 January (225.4) 0.0 (4.7) 0.1 6.2 (223.8)

Recognised in profit or loss 19.2 - 4.7 4.4 (1.7) 26.6

Recognised in other com-
prehensive income - - - - 0.2 0.2

Acquisition of subsidiaries 0.0 (31.0) - 11.0 3.2 (16.8)

Currency translation effects 0.0 - - - (1.6) (1.6)

Net balance as at  
31 December (206.2) (31.0) - 15.5 6.3 (215.4)

Deferred tax asset 22.2

Deferred tax liabilities (237.6)

Net balance as at 31 
December (215.4)



MSC Cruises Group

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 | 56 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred tax assets on loss carry forward of EUR 72.5 million (2020: EUR 15.5 million) have been 

recognised, the majority of which expires in 2028. Deferred tax assets on unused tax losses of 

EUR 37.2 million (2020: EUR 25.2 million) have not been recognised.

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Cash on hand and balances with banks 336.1 249.6

Short-term investments 79.0 38.5

Credit card receivables 3.4 4.9

Total 418.5 293.0

Credit card receivables were considered as cash equivalents if the amount was expected to be 

credited to the bank accounts within one week after the reporting date.

8. Trade and Other Receivables

in millions of Euros 2021 2020
Trade receivables - third parties 153.3 73.3

Credit cards receivable 21.8 11.5

Trade receivables - related parties (Note 23) 7.7 42.7

Trade receivables 182.8 127.5

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables (13.9) (10.6)

Trade receivables, net 168.9 116.9

VAT and other tax receivables 27.4 39.8

Other receivables - related parties (Note 23) 12.1 50.0

Other receivables - third parties 9.6 2.3

Other receivables 49.1 92.1

Total trade and other receivables, net 218.0 209.0

The movement in the allowance for doubtful receivables was as follows:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

As at 1 January (10.6) (9.0)

Amounts written off as uncollectable 0.7 0.3

Net increase in allowance for doubtful receivables (4.0) (1.9)

As at 31 December (13.9) (10.6)

9. Inventories

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Hotel consumables, food & beverages, shops & merchandise 164.7 134.6

Fuel 20.6 9.6

Inventories - gross value 185.3 144.2

Allowance for obsolete inventories (16.7) (15.0)

Total - inventories, net 168.6 129.2

The movement in the allowance for obsolete inventories was as follows:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

As at 1 January (15.0) (5.5)

Amounts written off - 0.2

Net increase in allowance for obsolete inventories (1.7) (9.7)

As at 31 December (16.7) (15.0)
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10. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Prepaid expenses 53.5 24.0

Prepayments to suppliers - third parties 6.7 8.8

Other current assets 54.7 0.0

Prepayments to suppliers - related parties (Note 23) - 1.2

Deposits 0.5 0.4

Total 115.4 34.4

Other current assets mainly refer to amounts due by the lessor of the ship MSC Orchestra and by 

the lessor of the land on which a new cruise terminal will be constructed at PortMiami.

11. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprises owned and leased assets. The Group leases different 

assets including ships, buildings, vehicles, IT and other equipment.

The movement of property, plant and equipment was as follows:

in millions of Euros

Land, buildings 
and leasehold 
improvements

Ships Ships under 
construction

Other 
equipments

Total

As at 1 January 2020 384.1 7,120.2 240.7 106.5 7,851.5

Cost 407.1 8,255.4 240.7 162.6 9,065.8

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment (23.0) (1,135.2) - (56.1) (1,214.3)

Net book value as at  
1 January 2020 384.1 7,120.2 240.7 106.5 7,851.5

Additions 16.5 - 266.1 22.6 305.2

Depreciation (17.0) (290.5) - (29.4) (336.9)

Impairment (9.4) - - - (9.4)

Acquisition of subsidiaries 20.8 - - 0.3 21.1

Modification of right-of-use asset (2.3) 2.8 - 2.1 2.6

Reclassification (1.9) - - 1.9 -

Currency translation effects (1.6) - - (1.1) (2.7)

As at 31 December 2020 389.2 6,832.5 506.8 102.9 7,831.4

Cost 440.2 8,258.1 506.8 189.4 9,394.5

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment (51.0) (1,425.6) - (86.5) (1,563.1)

Net book value as at  
31 December 2020 389.2 6,832.5 506.8 102.9 7,831.4

Additions 190.3 1,339.6 257.2 30.6 1,817.7

Depreciation (22.4) (311.8) - (27.9) (362.1)

Disposals (4.1) - - (4.0) (8.1)

Modification of right-of-use asset 1.7 1.3 - (0.7) 2.3

Reclassification 7.1 379.5 (375.9) (10.7) -

Currency translation effects 0.5 - - 0.8 1.3

As at 31 December 2021 562.3 8,241.1 388.1 91.0 9,282.5

Cost 635.7 9,978.5 388.1 205.4 11,207.7

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment (73.4) (1,737.4) - (114.4) (1,925.2)

Net book value as at  
31 December 2021 562.3 8,241.1 388.1 91.0 9,282.5
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group operated 19 cruise ships, which were constructed between 

2001 and 2021.

Ships under construction include progress payments for the construction of new ships, as well 

as design and engineering fees, capitalised interests, construction oversight costs and various 

owner supplies items.

Capital expenditures incurred in the period totalled EUR 1,817.7 million, with a relevant cash 

disbursement of EUR 1,639.5 million, and were primarily related to progress payments made to 

shipyards for the ships MSC Virtuosa (EUR 682.3 million) and MSC Seashore (EUR 706.1 million), 

delivered respectively in February and July 2021, and MSC Europa (EUR 63.7 million) and MSC 

Seascape (EUR 53.4 million) currently under construction and expected to be delivered in 2022.

Capitalised ship improvements and major maintenance activities, including dry-docks and 

scrubbers amounted to EUR 23.1 million (2020: EUR 10.8 million).

In 2021, the amount of borrowing costs capitalised in property, plant and equipment was equal 

to EUR 8.8 million (2020: EUR 2.6 million).

The useful life and the residual value of 15% are reviewed every year and take into consideration 

the impact of anticipated technological changes, long-term cruise and vacation market conditions 

and historical useful lives of similarly built ships.

Property, plant and equipment included the following right-of-use assets:

in millions of Euros

Land, buildings 
and leasehold 
improvements

Ships Other 
equipments

Total

As at 1 January 2020 55.6 839.2 11.8 906.6

Cost 68.2 1,216.5 18.1 1,302.8

Accumulated depreciation (12.6) (377.3) (6.3) (396.2)

Net book value as at 1 January 2020 55.6 839.2 11.8 906.6

Additions 2.1 - 2.4 4.5

Depreciation (8.1) (33.5) (5.1) (46.7)

Acquisition of subsidiaries 14.1 - - 14.1

Modification of right-of-use asset (2.3) 2.8 2.1 2.6

Decrease - (264.4) - (264.4)

Currency translation effects (0.6) - 0.1 (0.5)

As at 31 December 2020 60.8 544.1 11.3 616.2

Cost 81.5 954.9 22.7 1,059.1

Accumulated depreciation (20.7) (410.8) (11.4) (442.9)

Net book value as at  
31 December 2020 60.8 544.1 11.3 616.2

Additions 184.6 - 0.1 184.7

Depreciation (11.5) (23.7) (4.5) (39.7)

Modification of right-of-use asset 1.6 1.3 (0.7) 2.2

Reclassification  (1.4) - -  (1.4)

Currency translation effects 0.3 - 0.0 0.3

As at 31 December 2021 234.4 521.7 6.2 762.3

Cost 266.6 956.2 22.1 1,244.9

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (32.2) (434.5) (15.9) (482.6)

Net book value as at  
31 December 2021 234.4 521.7 6.2 762.3

In 2020, the decrease of leases mostly referred to the early termination of the lease of the vessel 

MSC Musica. The ship is now owned by the Group. In 2021, a right-of-use asset of EUR 182.4 

million was recognised, for a land on which a new cruise terminal will be constructed at PortMiami. 
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In determining the right-of-use asset and lease liability, the Group used an incremental borrowing 

rate of 5.5% for discounting future lease payments over 62 years. The asset is depreciated using 

the straight-line method over 62 years.

12. Tradenames, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The movement of Intangible assets was as follows:

in millions of Euros Goodwill Tradenames Software Other Total

As at 1 January 2020 4.8 2,284.0 29.8 33.5 2,352.1

Cost 4.8 2,284.0 81.7 41.5 2,412.0

Accumulated amortisation - - (51.9) (8.0) (59.9)

Net book value as at  
1 January 2020 4.8 2,284.0 29.8 33.5 2,352.1

Additions - - 7.5 5.9 13.4

Amortisation - - (16.2) (6.0) (22.2)

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 143.4 3.5 7.8 154.7

Currency translation effects (0.4) - (0.2) 0.4 (0.2)

As at 31 December 2020 4.4 2,427.4 24.4 41.6 2,497.8

Cost 4.4 2,427.4 92.6 55.6 2,580.0

Accumulated amortisation - - (68.2) (14.0) (82.2)

Net book value as at  
31 December 2020 4.4 2,427.4 24.4 41.6 2,497.8

Additions - 0.4 8.7 5.3 14.4

Amortisation - - (17.0) (6.2) (23.2)

Decrease - - (0.1) - (0.1)

Reclassification - - 16.3 (16.3) -

Currency translation effects - - - 0.1 0.1

As at 31 December 2021 4.4 2,427.8 32.3 24.5 2,489.0

Cost 4.4 2,427.8 117.5 44.7 2,594.4

Accumulated amortisation - - (85.2) (20.2) (105.4)

Net book value as at  
31 December 2021 4.4 2,427.8 32.3 24.5 2,489.0

In 2020, the increase in tradenames referred to the brands acquired in the Bluvacanze 

Contribution (refer to Note 23 Related parties).

Tradenames have been recognised at fair value estimated using the relief-from-royalty method. 

The carrying amount of the MSC Cruises brand is EUR 2,284.0 million. 

Tradenames and goodwill are evaluated for impairment annually or more frequently when an 

event occurs, or circumstances change that indicates that the carrying value is not recoverable. 

The Group conducted a quantitative assessment by comparing the estimated recoverable amount 

of the cash generating unit MSC Cruises Group to its carrying value. The assessment uses 

discounted future cash flows and other market data to determine the estimated recoverable amount 

of the cash generating unit. The discounted cash flow valuation reflects the value in use of the 

cash generating unit and the principal assumptions are i) forecasted future operating results and 

growth rates, ii) forecasted capital expenditures including fleet growth, ship improvements and 

infrastructure projects and iii) a discount rate derived from the weighted average cost of capital.

As of 31 December 2021, the annual review supports the carrying value of the cash generating unit.

The significant inputs in the valuation included a post-tax discount rate of 8.1% (2020: 8.4%) 

and a terminal growth rate of 0.6% (2020: 0.8%).

No significant disposals or impairments of goodwill and other intangible assets occurred during 

any of the periods presented.



MSC Cruises Group

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 | 60 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

The movement of investments in associates and joint ventures was as follows:

in millions of Euros Associates Joint ventures Total

As at 1 January 2020 3.5 12.7 16.2

Constitution/Additions 0.0 32.9 32.9

Share of profit (0.4) (0.4) (0.8)

Dividend declared - (0.2) (0.2)

Currency translation effects 0.0 0.0 0.0

As at 31 December 2020 3.1 45.0 48.1

Constitution/Additions - 2.8 2.8

Share of profit (1.0) (2.9) (3.9)

Dividend declared - (1.9) (1.9)

Currency translation effects 0.0 0.0 0.0

As at 31 December 2021 2.1 43.0 45.1

The tables below summarise the associates and joint ventures financial statements:

2021
in millions of Euros Associates Joint ventures Total

Non-current assets 0.4 135.8 136.2

Current assets 2.3 41.4 43.7

Total assets 2.7 177.2 179.9

Equity 1.9 91.6 93.5

Non-current liabilities 0.0 63.2 63.2

Current liabilities 0.8 22.4 23.2

Total equity and liabilities 2.7 177.2 179.9

Total revenues 0.5 35.4 35.9

Result for the year (2.0) (19.0) (21.0)

Result for the year attributable  
to the Group (1.0) (2.9) (3.9)

2020
in millions of Euros Associates Joint ventures Total

Non-current assets 5.4 60.8 66.2

Current assets 4.4 41.0 45.4

Total assets 9.8 101.8 111.6

Equity 8.6 56.7 65.3

Non-current liabilities 0.3 13.4 13.7

Current liabilities 0.9 31.7 32.6

Total equity and liabilities 9.8 101.8 111.6

Total revenues 1.5 16.1 17.6

Result for the year (2.0) (0.6) (2.6)

Result for the year attributable  
to the Group (0.4) (0.4) (0.8)

14. Other Non-current Assets

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Leases 30.9 35.4

Long-term deposits 4.0 8.2

Other non-current assets 23.7 19.6

Total 58.6 63.2

In 2020, leases referred to amounts due by the lessor of the ship MSC Orchestra. These amounts 

are expected to be recovered in 2022 and were reclassified in Other current assets.

In 2021, leases referred to amounts due by the lessor of the land on which a new cruise terminal 

will be constructed at PortMiami.

Other assets included EUR 23.6 million of prepaid financing fees relating to undrawn financing 

arrangements (2020: EUR 19.2 million).
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15. Trade and Other Payables

in millions of Euros 2021 2020
Trade payables to third parties 485.6 219.1

Trade payables to related parties (Note 23) 80.7 68.3

Other payables to third parties 35.0 35.3

Other payables to related parties (note 23) 2.1 0.6

Total 603.4 323.3

16. Customer Deposits and Time Charter Advances

in millions of Euros 2021 2020
Customer deposits 379.4 260.8

Time charter advances 221.7 144.0

Total 601.1 404.8

17. Provisions

in millions of Euros 2021 2020
As at 1 January 92.9 35.4

Additions 2.0 82.9

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 0.6

Unused amount reversed (22.3) -

Utilisation during the year (6.7) (20.6)

Exchange differences (0.3) (5.4)

As at 31 December 65.6 92.9

Non-current liabilities 8.9 7.2

Current liabilities 56.7 85.7

As at 31 December 65.6 92.9

The Group has offered programmes in the form of future cruise credits including incentives 

and enhancements to foster the acceptance of the credits alternatively of the customer deposit 

reimbursement. Certain features of the programmes could result in unavoidable costs such as 

incremental commissions to travel agencies, which are expected to not be fully covered by the 

expected economic benefits derived from the programme’s redemption.

Utilisation of provision during the year and unused amount reversed mainly refer to the settlement 

and redemption of future cruise credits provision.

18. Contingent Liabilities

From time to time, the Group is involved in legal proceedings. These encompass a range of 

topics, such as disputes with foreign tax authorities, claims asserted by passengers or ports 

and disputes arising from contractual relationships with agents and suppliers. Naturally, the 

outcome of such legal disputes cannot be predicted with any certainty. Provisions for pending 

and imminent proceedings are recorded if a payment obligation is probable and its amount can 

be reliably determined. It is possible that the outcome of individual proceedings for which no 

provisions were recorded may result in payment obligations of which amounts could not have 

been foreseen with sufficient accuracy at 31 December 2021. Such payment obligations are not 

expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s net assets and earnings positions.
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19. Financial Instruments and Risk Management

19.1 Category of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of Group financial instruments by category was as follows:

As at 31 December 2021
in millions of Euros

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost

Mandatorily 
at FVTPL - 
derivatives

Fair value 
- hedging 

instruments

Carrying 
amount

Trade and other receivables (1) 190.6 - - - 190.6

Other current assets 54.7 - - - 54.7

Cash and cash equivalents 418.5 - - - 418.5

Other non-current assets 58.6 - - - 58.6

Long-term receivables from  
related parties 7.5 - - - 7.5

Deposits (2) 0.5 - - - 0.5

Total Financial assets 730.4 - - - 730.4

Financial debt - 7,277.8 - - 7,277.8

Trade and other payables  
(including employee payables) - 641.7 - - 641.7

Bank overdraft and other  
short-term borrowings - 704.6 - - 704.6

Derivatives financial instruments - 
on interest rate - - - 31.6 31.6

Total Financial liabilities - 8,624.1 - 31.6 8,655.7

(1) Excluding VAT and other tax receivables
(2) Deposits are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets

As at 31 December 2020
in millions of Euros

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost

Mandatorily 
at FVTPL - 
derivatives

Fair value 
- hedging 

instruments

Carrying 
amount

Tarde and other receivables (1) 169.2 - - - 169.2

Cash and cash equivalents 293.0 - - - 293.0

Other non-current assets (2) 63.2 - - - 63.2

Long-term receivables from 
related parties 6.9 - - - 6.9

Deposits (3) 0.4 - - - 0.4

Total Financial assets 532.7 - - - 532.7

Financial debt - 5,488.1 - - 5,488.1

Trade and other payables  
(including employee payables) - 336.1 - - 336.1

Bank overdraft and other  
short-term borrowings - 714.8 - - 714.8

Derivatives financial instruments 
- on interest rate - - - 58.7 58.7

Derivatives financial instruments  
- on fuel price - - - 5.0 5.0

Total Financial liabilities - 6,539.0 - 63.7 6,602.7

(1) Excluding VAT and other tax receivables
(2) Excluding long-term VAT receivable
(3) Deposits are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets

The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities is not significantly different from their 

carrying value.
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The fair value of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, 

bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings and short-term financial debt approximated their 

carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. The fair value of 

financial debt, excluding the bond evaluated at market price, was estimated by discounting future 

cash flows using rates currently available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining 

maturities. 

19.2 Financial Debt

in millions of Euros

Loans Bonds Leases Bank 
overdraft & 
short-term 
borrowings

Total 
Financial 

debt

As at 1 January 2020 4,357.3 489.5 269.0 12.4 5,128.2

Net cash flow 332.1 - (15.6) 685.0 1,001.5

Foreign currency exchange 
movements (0.7) 3.6 (0.3) - 2.6

New / (terminated) leases - - 4.5 - 4.5

Other changes 27.7 0.5 20.5 17.4 66.1

As at 31 December 2020 4,716.4 493.6 278.1 714.8 6,202.9

Net cash flow 1,686.0 (185.9) (5.4) (9.7) 1,485.0

Foreign currency exchange 
movements 0.6 19.6 - - 20.2

New / (terminated) leases - - 236.1 - 236.1

Other changes 32.9 0.3 5.5 (0.5) 38.2

As at 31 December 2021 6,435.9 327.6 514.3 704.6 7,982.4

The Group financial debt comprised variable and fixed-rate instruments as follows:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Variable rate 2,963.1 2,924.6

Fixed rate 4,314.7 2,563.5

Total 7,277.8 5,488.1

The Group uses interest rate swap agreements to modify its exposure to interest rate movements 

and to manage its interest expenses. At 31 December 2021, the Group maintained interest 

rate swap agreements on EUR 1,838.4 million (2020: EUR 2,315.7 million) of its variable rate 

financial debt that effectively converted the floating interest rates to fixed ones. Accordingly, 

the Group’s exposure to the risk of a potential increase in interest expense from an increase in 

interest rates is limited to 15% (2020: 11%) of its financial debt.

Details of the financial debt categorised by the different financing structures and by type of asset 

financed were as follows:
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in millions of Euros
Maturities 

through
Interest rate (1) As at 

31/12/2021
As at 

31/12/2020
Facility A -tranche 1 2025 Euribor 3 m + 1.13% (2) 349.8 348.9
Facility A -tranche 2 2025 Euribor 3 m + 2.00% (3) 116.6 116.3
Facility B 2025 Euribor 3 m + 1.50% 190.9 190.2
Renaissance Project 2027 Euribor 3 m + 1.90% 68.8 68.7
Renaissance Project 2027 2.75% 23.0 22.9
MSC Fantasia

Senior Tranche 2023 Euribor 6 m + 0.65% 35.2 35.0
Junior Tranche A 2023 Euribor 6 m + 1.00% 60.3 60.5
Junior Tranche B 2023 Euribor 6 m + 1.00% 65.1 65.3

MSC Splendida (4)

Senior Tranche 2024 Euribor 6 m + 0.65% 58.3 53.8
Junior Tranche A 2024 Euribor 6 m + 1.00% 57.3 59.6
Junior Tranche B 2024 Euribor 6 m + 1.00% 60.6 63.1

MSC Bellissima 2031 Euribor 3 m + 1.00% 537.2 535.3
MSC Meraviglia 2029 Euribor 3 m + 1.00% 478.3 476.8
MSC Grandiosa 2031 1.19% 666.3 664.5
MSC Virtuosa 2033 1.19% 664.9 -
MSC Seaside 2029 2.35% 473.4 474.3
MSC Seaview 2030 2.35% 488.3 488.4
MSC Seashore 2033 1.51% 704.4 136.1
MSC Preziosa 2029 Euribor 6 m + 0.75% 334.7 333.3
Subordinated shareholder loan 2027 0.25% 423.0 -

Shipyards loans 2023 Euribor 6 m + 1.45% /
3.00% to 4.50% 271.9 95.6

Term loan (EUR 200 million) 2021 Euribor + 6.25% / 4.75% - 201.8
Other loans - fixed rate 2021-2038 1.03% to 1.57% 178.1 128.0

Other loans - floating rate 2021-2029 Libor 3 m + 2.25% /
Euribor 6 m + 0.80% to 1.70% 129.5 98.0

Total Loans 6,435.9 4,716.4
MSC Magnifica 2029 2.81% 208.1 206.5
Miami Terminal 2085 6.88% 246.2 -
Other leases 60.0 71.6
Total Leases 514.3 278.1
Bond 2016 2021 coupon 3.00% - 180.5
Bond 2017 2023 coupon 3.00% 327.6 313.1
Total Bonds 327.6 493.6
Total Financial debt 7,277.8 5,488.1
Current portion of long-term debt 827.7 823.9
Long-term debt 6,450.1 4,664.2

(1) Interest rates set in the table represent the original facilities rates
(2) Bpifrance tranche - 75% of total loan
(3) Commercial tranche - 25% of total loan
(4) Refer to senior tranche and commercial tranche (85% of the total liability)

The Group’s debt agreements, including the Group’s main credit revolving facility, are subject to 

compliance with financial covenants that require the Group to maintain a minimum shareholders’ 

equity, a minimum level of liquidity and net worth to total balance sheet, and EBITDA over financial 

interest ratios. In addition, certain of the Group’s non-ship-financing debt agreements include 

customary financial covenants.

In 2020, the Group amended all of its export-credit backed ship debt facilities to benefit from 

a 12-month debt holiday initiative (the First Debt Holiday) offered to the cruise industry by 

Bpifrance Assurance Export (BPI) and SACE, the official export credit agencies of France and 

Italy respectively. The First Debt Holiday provides interim debt service and financial covenant 

relief for borrowers during the current global COVID-19 pandemic with respect to their BPI and 

SACE guaranteed financings. The amended agreements provide that, among other things, (a) 

amortisation payments due from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 (the “First Deferral Period”) 

on the loans will be deferred and (b) the principal amounts so deferred will constitute separate 

tranches of loans under the facilities. These amendments allow for the deferral of an aggregate 

amount of EUR 521.5 million. The separate tranches of loans accrue interests equivalent to the 

original facilities plus a margin of 15 basis points (bps). The new amounts being deferred are 

scheduled to be repaid over a four-year period starting in April 2021.

In 2021, the Group has been granted access to an additional 12-month debt holiday initiative (the 

Second Debt Holiday) offered by the same export credit agencies and has initiated the process 

of amending all of its export-credit backed facilities, including the separate tranches constituted 

under the First Debt Holiday, to provide that, among other things, (a) amortisation payments due 

from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 (the “Second Deferral Period”) on the loans will be deferred 

and (b) the principal amounts so deferred will constitute separate tranches of loans under the 
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facilities. The 2021 amendments allow for the deferral of an aggregate amount of EUR 737.4 

million. Second-Deferral-Period tranches will accrue interests equivalent to the original facilities 

plus a margin of 20 bps and will be repaid over a five-year period starting in April 2022.

As at December 2021, the interest expenses related to the First and Second Debt Holiday 

represent approximately 5.0% of the total interest expenses over the life of the underlying 

facilities.

As of 31 December 2020, financial covenant testing on the Group’s amended export-credit 

facilities was waived through the year-end 2021 following amendments to the agreements during 

2020. The Second Debt Holiday further extends the waiver of the Group’s financial covenants 

through year-end 2022.

The amendments also impose a quarterly-tested minimum liquidity covenant of EUR 50.0 million 

for the duration of the waiver period. The Group complied with the applicable minimum liquidity 

covenant over the period ended 31 December 2021, and it is estimated that it will be complying 

for at least the next twelve months.

During 2021, the parent entity initially granted a subordinated shareholder loan of EUR 272.5 

million through subsequent drawdowns (see Note 23 Related Parties).

In September 2021, the term loan has been early terminated. The total amount of EUR 200.0 

million was totally reimbursed by MSC Holding. The balance due to Credit Suisse by the Group 

is now due to MSC Holding and is considered into the subordinated shareholder loan (see Note 

23 Related Parties).

In September, the Group completed a 364-day extension up to February 2023 of its EUR 600.0 

million Revolving Credit Facility, which was originally set to expire in February 2022. The facility 

bears interest at Euribor 3m/6m plus a spread of 375 bps (250 bps before the extension).

On 30 November 2021, the Group redeemed the CHF 195.0 million, 3.0% bond, according to 

its maturity date.

In December 2021, the parent Company decided to convert a EUR 50.0 million of the outstanding 

subordinated shareholder loan into a contribution to the Group’s equity reserves (the Equity 

Conversion) (see Note 23 Related Parties).

On 23 December 2021, the Group entered into two debt facilities for the Miami Terminal project 

amounting to a total of EUR 353.0 million for which no amount was drawn in 2021.

19.3 Leases

Future minimum lease payments were as follows:

As at 31 December 2021 
in millions of Euros

Minimum lease 
payments

Finance
charges

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments

Less than 1 year 44.4 8.0 36.4

1 to 5 years 180.7 20.6 160.1

Later than five years 1,785.0 1,467.2 317.8

Total minimum lease payments 2,010.1 1,495.8 514.3

Non-current 1,965.7 1,487.8 477.9

Current 44.4 8.0 36.4
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As at 31 December 2020 
in millions of Euros

Minimum lease 
payments

Finance
charges

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments

Less than 1 year 37.5 4.8 32.7

1 to 5 years 151.8 28.1 123.8

Later than five years 122.3 0.7 121.6

Total minimum lease payments 311.6 33.6 278.1

Non-current 274.1 28.8 245.4

Current 37.5 4.8 32.7

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 December 2021 is EUR 22.9 million 

(2020: EUR 24.6 million).

The interest expense on lease liabilities for the period ended 31 December 2021 amounts to EUR 

8.5 million (2020: EUR 9.0 million).

19.4 Derivative Financial Instruments

Interest Rate Swaps
At 31 December 2021, the Group had interest rate swap agreements to hedge its exposure to 

interest rate movements and to manage its interest expenses by effectively converting a portion 

of its floating-rate financial debt to a fixed-rate basis.

The notional amount of the interest rate swap agreements was EUR 1,630.9 million at 31 

December 2021 (2020: EUR 1,970.3 million).

The interest rate swap agreements consisted of:

As at 31 December 2021 
in millions of Euros

Derivative  
notional

Fixed
rate

Maturity

Euribor 6m 1,256.6 0.46% to 0.85% 2023-2025

Euribor 3m 374.3 -0.08% to 3.15% 2021-2027

Total 1,630.9

As at 31 December 2020 
in millions of Euros

Derivative  
notional

Fixed
rate

Maturity

Euribor 6m 1,418.0 0.46% to 0.85% 2023-2025

Euribor 3m 552.3 -0.08% to 3.15% 2021-2027

Total 1,970.3

The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the changes in the fair value of the 

interest rates swaps were as follows:

in millions of Euros Assets Liabilities Total

As at 1 January 2020 - (71.7) (71.7)

Gain / (loss) in other comprehensive 
income - 8.2 8.2

Gain / (loss) in the income statement - 4.8 4.8

As at 31 December 2020 - (58.7) (58.7)

Gain / (loss) in other comprehensive 
income - 20.3 20.3

Gain / (loss) in the income statement - 6.8 6.8

As at 31 December 2021 - (31.6) (31.6)

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in the zero-coupon curves of market interest 

rates at balance sheet date would have had the following impacts on the fair value of derivatives. 

This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
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As at 31 December 2021 
in millions of Euros Shift -100bps Carrying amount Shift + 100bps

Euribor 6m (39.1) (22.3) (4.9)

Euribor 3m (14.2) (9.3) (4.6)

Total (53.3) (31.6) (9.5)

As at 31 December 2020 
in millions of Euros Shift -100bps Carrying amount Shift + 100bps

Euribor 6m (73.6) (40.5) (4.1)

Euribor 3m (27.1) (18.2) (9.6)

Total (100.7) (58.7) (13.7)

Derivatives on Fuel Price
The Group is exposed to fuel price fluctuations and enters into derivative contracts to mitigate the 

financial impact of fuel price volatility.

As of 31 December 2021, no amount in asset or liability (2020: liability of EUR 5.0 million) was 

recognised since in 2021 the Group didn’t enter into new derivative contracts and all derivates 

were terminated. Consequently, the cumulative cash flows hedge in equity amounting to EUR 4.2 

million was reclassified from the other consolidated comprehensive income to the consolidated 

income statement.

In 2020, the commodity swap agreements consisted of:

As at 31 December 2020 
Maturities through 

Product Metric tons   
in thousand

Weighted average 
fixed price in USD

2021

Intermediate sulfur fuel oil 72 278

Very low sulfur fuel oil 38 500

Gasoil 18 586

Total 128

19.5 Fair Value Measurement

Financial assets and liabilities that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are 

grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is measured:

 - Level 1 inputs: Determination of fair value based on unadjusted prices quoted in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities;

 - Level 2 inputs: Determination of fair value based on inputs that are observable on active markets 

(other than the quoted prices included in Level 1) that are observable both directly and indirectly;

 - Level 3 inputs: Determination of fair value in accordance with valuation models not based on 

directly or indirectly observable inputs from any active market.

The bonds, for which there is a price in an active market, were allocated as a Level 1. For the 

other financial instruments, since there are no unobservable inputs into the model, fair values 

were allocated to Level 2.

The only financial instruments held by the Group measured at fair value through income statement 

are derivatives. Derivatives’ fair values were allocated to Level 2 at 31 December 2021 and 31 

December 2020.

Financial assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value

Valuation techniques

Interest rate swaps

Discounted cash flows. Future cash flows are estimated based on 
forward interest rates (from observable yield curves at the end of 
the reporting period) and contract interest rates, discounted at a 
rate that reflects self-credit risk.

Commodity derivatives

Discounted cash flows. Future cash flows are estimated based on 
forecast expectations of several variables, including the contract 
strike price, the forward price calendar and the timing of the con-
tract, discounted at a rate that reflects self-credit risk.
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19.6 Financial Risk Exposure and Financial Risk Management

The risk management activity carried out by the Group responds to the need to monitor the 

various risks to which the Group is exposed and to take appropriate action from a non-speculative 

perspective to limit such exposure by equipping the Group with procedures and instruments able 

to represent the risks in a transparent way.

Given that the Group operates on world markets, its activity is exposed to various kinds of 

financial risks, including fluctuations, up or down, of interest and exchange rates, and liquidity 

risks. In order to minimise these risks, the Group uses derivatives as part of its risk management 

activities, whereas it does not use or hold derivatives or similar instruments purely for trading 

purposes. The Board of Directors approves and monitors the risk management process.

The following paragraphs describe the policies and principles that the Group uses to manage 

and control the various risks to which it is potentially exposed, giving the main qualitative and 

quantitative information on the nature of the risks to which the Group is exposed and the ways in 

which they can be mitigated. Risks were reduced by entering into hedging contracts, matching 

sales and by taking out insurance policies.

The main risks identified, monitored and managed by the Group are as follows:

 - Market risks; 

 - Credit risks;

 - Liquidity risks.

Market Risks
Significant market-related risks to which the Group is exposed consist of fuel price risk, interest 

rate risk and foreign currency risk.

Fuel Price Risk
The Group is exposed to fuel price fluctuation risk that affects the costs incurred to buy fuel for 

ship operations. Since fuel prices have historically fluctuated significantly and are affected by 

numerous factors outside the Group’s control, the Group may enter into derivative contracts to 

mitigate the financial impact of fuel price volatility (refer to Note 19.4 Financial Instruments and 

Risk Management - Derivative Financial Instruments).

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk relates mainly to the portion of the Group’s financial debt which is exposed 

to changes in the Euribor maturity curve since the interest-bearing liabilities are almost all 

denominated in Euro and are linked to the Euribor index. The exposure mainly arises from 

financial debts that bear interest at variable rates and the interest rate swap agreements that 

convert floating-rate debt into a fixed rate.

Market risk associated with the Group’s long-term floating-rate debt is the potential increase in 

interest expense from an increase in interest rates. The Group uses interest rate swap agreements 

that effectively convert a portion of its floating-rate debt to a fixed-rate basis to manage this risk. 

A possible change of 100 basis points in actual interest rates at balance sheet date would have 

increased/(decreased) 2021 and 2020 equity and the profit or loss by the amounts shown below.

This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant:

As at 31 December 2021
in millions of Euros

Profit or loss Equity, net of tax
100 bps 

decrease
100 bps 
increase

100 bps 
decrease

100 bps 
increase

Variable-rate instruments 4.9 (13.4) 4.9 (13.4)

Interest rate swaps (6.9) 20.0 (32.6) 34.7

Net impact (2.0) 6.6 (27.7) 21.3
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As at 31 December 2020
in millions of Euros

Profit or loss Equity, net of tax
100 bps 

decrease
100 bps 
increase

100 bps 
decrease

100 bps 
increase

Variable-rate instruments 9.3 (15.6) 9.4 (15.6)

Interest rate swaps (15.7) 18.4 (55.1) 60.0

Net impact (6.4) 2.8 (45.7) 44.4

Foreign Currency Risk
As it operates at an international level, the Group is exposed to the risk that changes in exchange 

rates could have an impact on the carrying amount of some of its financial assets or financial 

liabilities. In addition, certain sales and purchases are denominated in currencies that differ from 

the functional currencies of the Group entities, which is primarily the Euro.

Specifically, fluctuations in exchange rates can have a considerable impact:

 - On income, as a result of the different significance of costs and revenues denominated in 

foreign currency compared to the time when the price conditions were defined (economic risk);

 - On income, as a result of the translation of trade or financial receivables/payables denominated 

in a foreign currency (transaction risk);

 - On the consolidated financial statements (shareholders’ equity) by effect of the translation of 

assets and liabilities of companies that prepare their financial statements in another currency 

(translation risk).

The Group seeks to reduce foreign currency exposures arising from transactions in various 

currencies through a policy of matching, to the extent possible, of receipts and payments in each 

individual currency in order to create a natural hedge. The Group may also enter into foreign 

currency forward contracts, collar options and cross-currency swap agreements to manage 

portions of the exposure to movements in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Group’s net investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures operating in foreign countries 

also expose it to foreign currency risk because of foreign currency movements. However, these 

investments are long-term investments and the value of the net assets of such investments is 

deemed insignificant, therefore net investments in foreign subsidiaries are not hedged.

The table below shows the Group’s exposure to currency risk with reference to the main foreign 

currencies:

As at 31 December 2021
in millions of Euros USD BRL GBP ZAR CHF ARS
Trade receivables 8.4 42.4 7.6 1.9 0.0 -

Cash and cash equivalents 29.5 81.2 20.9 2.7 2.1 0.2

Financial debt (247.3) (0.4) (73.8) (2.1) (335.7) -

Trade payables (34.9) (21.8) (11.4) (0.6) (1.6) (0.1)

Net exposure (244.3) 101.4 (56.7) 1.9 (335.2) 0.1

As at 31 December 2020
in millions of Euros USD BRL GBP ZAR CHF ARS
Trade receivables - 19.0 2.3 2.2 0.0 -

Cash and cash equivalents 71.6 39.8 4.3 2.5 0.7 0.1

Financial debt (0.9) (0.2) (13.6) (2.3) (501.9) (0.0)

Trade payables (3.9) (10.3) (12.3) (0.4) (13.4) (0.0)

Net exposure 66.8 48.3 (19.3) 2.0 (514.6) 0.1

The significant exchange rates are disclosed in Note 2.6 Summary of Significant Accounting 

Policies - Foreign Currency Valuations.
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A reasonably possible strengthening/(weakening) of the main foreign currencies at the end of the 

reporting period would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in 

a foreign currency and would have affected the profit by the amounts shown below. This analysis 

assumes that all the variables remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales and 

purchases as at 31 December:

in millions of Euros

2021 2020

Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

USD (5% movement) (12.2) 12.2 3.3 (3.3)

BRL (5% movement) 5.1 (5.1) 2.4 (2.4)

GBP (5% movement) (2.8) 2.8 (1.0) 1.0

ZAR (5% movement) 0.1 0.2 0.1 (0.1)

CHF (5% movement) (16.8) 16.8 (25.7) 25.7

ARS (5% movement) 0.0 (0.0) 0.0 (0.0)

Credit Risks
Credit risk refers to the risk of the Group suffering financial loss due to a counterparty defaulting 

on its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises on non-current financial assets, derivative assets, 

trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

From a commercial point of view, the Group has no concentration of and is not significantly 

dependent on any specific customer. Procedures are in place to evaluate the creditworthiness of 

any potential significant customer and payment terms are based on any given customer’s credit 

standing and rating thus mitigating the Group’s credit exposure for its trade receivables.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the 

counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The maximum credit risk equals the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, loans and 

receivables and derivative assets as disclosed in Note 19.1 Category of Financial Instruments.

Liquidity Risks
Liquidity risk arises when a company encounters difficulties to meet commitments associated with 

both short and medium/long-term commercial and financial liabilities and other payment obligations.

The consequences may consist of a deterioration of the Group’s financial standing and of the 

consequent difficulties in accessing credit, of a negative impact on profit in terms of increased 

costs, interest expenses and, as an extreme consequence, of an insolvency situation that 

jeopardises the entity’s viability as a going concern.

Historically, the Group has generated significant cash from operations since its business model 

was based on the ability to pre-sell tickets, receive passenger deposits and sell onboard activities 

in advance with long lead times ahead of sailing.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had a working capital deficit (current liabilities less current assets) 

of EUR 1,914.1 million (2020: EUR 1,707.0). This deficit included EUR 601.1 million of customer 

deposits and time charter advances (2020: EUR 404.8 million), which represent unearned revenues 

from advance ticket sales for future voyages and are initially recorded within customer deposits and 

time charter advances when the right to the collection of the deposit arises.

After excluding cash and cash equivalents, the current portions of derivatives and the current 

portion of long-term financial debt and bank overdrafts, the adjusted operating working capital 

deficit at 31 December 2021 was EUR 800.3 million (2020: EUR 456.3 million).

The liquidity position of the Group has historically been influenced by the pattern of ticket sales 

and collections. As a result, liquidity is at its lowest in the winter months and at its highest in 
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the summer months. The Group has historically managed the seasonal nature of its liquidity 

by making use of a EUR 600.0 million revolving credit facility (2020: EUR 600.0 million). The 

revolving credit facility was fully drawn at 31 December 2021 (2020: fully drawn).

The Group’s business model, along with the revolving credit facility, had historically allowed it 

to operate with a working capital deficit and to still meet its operating, investing and financing 

needs.

The following table summarises the remaining contractual maturities, which represent cash flows 

including interests, of the Group’s financial liabilities:

31 December 2021
in millions of Euros

Less than  
1 year

Between  
1 and 5 years

More than  
5 years

Total

Financial debt 956.4 4,031.3 4,391.5 9,379.2

Trade and other payables (including 
employee payables) 641.7 - - 641.7

Derivatives on interest rates 21.2 16.6 0.0 37.8

Bank overdraft and other short-term 
borrowings 731.9 - - 731.9

Total 2,351.2 4,047.9 4,391.5 10,790.6

31 December 2020
in millions of Euros

Less than  
1 year

Between  
1 and 5 years

More than  
5 years

Total

Financial debt 924.4 3,269.4 1,815.7 6,009.5
Trade and other payables (including 
employee payables) 336.1 - - 336.1

Derivatives on interest rates 25.1 43.0 0.1 68.2

Bank overdraft and other short-term 
borrowings 731.5 - - 731.5

Total 2,017.1 3,312.4 1,815.8 7,145.3

Contractual maturities refer only to the outstanding financial debt at 31 December 2021 and do 

not include future capital commitments.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in the zero-coupon curves of market interest 

rates at balance sheet date would have had the following impacts on the future cash outflows 

related to the derivative instruments (amounts undiscounted). This analysis assumes that all 

other variables remain constant:

As at 31 December 2021
in millions of Euros Shift -100 bps Future Cash-Out Shift +100 bps

Euribor 6m (49.9) (27.2) (1.3)

Euribor 3m (17.6) (10.6) (3.7)

Total (67.5) (37.8) (5.0)

As at 31 December 2020
In millions of Euros Shift -100 bps Future Cash-Out Shift +100 bps

Euribor 6m (81.7) (47.4) (7.6)

Euribor 3m (32.4) (20.8) (9.2)

Total (114.1) (68.2) (16.8)

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in the zero-coupon curves of market interest 

rates at the end of the reporting period would have had the following impacts on the future cash 

outflows related to the financial liabilities (amounts undiscounted). This analysis assumes that all 

other variables remain constant:

31 December 2021
in millions of Euros

Less than  
1 year

Between  
1 and 5 years

More than  
5 years

Total

Shift -100bps 954.7 4,043.5 4,396.8 9,395.0

Interest rates curve as at period  
end date 956.4 4,031.3 4,391.5 9,379.2

Shift + 100bps 970.4 4,078.2 4,401.2 9,449.8
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31 December 2020
in millions of Euros

Less than  
1 year

Between  
1 and 5 years

More than  
5 years

Total

Shift -100bps 910.1 3,242.1 1,809.1 5,961.3
Interest rates curve as at period  
end date 924.4 3,269.4 1,185.7 6,009.5

Shift + 100bps 940.4 3,296.7 1,821.6 6,058.7

Capital Management
The Group defines capital as debt plus equity, including non-controlling interests. 

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for its owners and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 

minimise the cost of capital.

The Group seeks to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility of its sources 

through using different financing structures.

All Group’s ship financing is either directly or indirectly guaranteed by the export credit agencies 

in the respective country in which the ship is constructed, notably Bpifrance Assurance Export 

and SACE, the official export credit agencies in France and Italy, respectively. Export credit 

facilities usually cover 80% of the ships’ contract price.

In addition, necessary financial resources are maintained to allow the Group to mitigate risks and 

unforeseen events.

The Group monitors capital mainly using a ratio of total equity to total assets.

20. Future Capital Commitments and Other Contractual 
Commitments

Future capital commitments consisted of contracted commitments, including ship construction 

contracts and capital expenditures necessary for operations.

The table below details anticipated capital expenditures and other contractual commitments at 

31 December:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Ship construction contracts (1) 5,606.0 7,232.3

Port facilities 94.5 1,731.2

Other future capital commitments (2) 353.1 7.5

Other commitments given 14.7 12.1

(1) Ship construction contracts commitments include only commitments related to contracts signed at 31 December. Options 
and other non-binding arrangements are not included in capital commitments.
(2) Other future capital commitments include mainly commitments for the building of infrastructures and includes, in 2021, 
EUR 350.8 million in relation to the construction of a terminal in Miami.

Ship Construction Contracts
The Group future capital commitments consist primarily of new ship orders. 

The Group has orders from Fincantieri for the construction of one Seaside Evo ship for delivery 

in 2022, with a contract price of approximately EUR 890.0 million and of four luxury cruise ships 

with expected yearly deliveries starting from spring 2023, with a combined contract price of 

approximately 1,961.0 million.
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The Group has orders from Chantiers de l’Atlantique for one Meraviglia-Plus ship for delivery in 

2023 and two World Class ships for delivery in 2022 and 2025 for a combined contract price of 

EUR 3,086.0 million. 

At 31 December 2021, the Group has export credit financing in place that provides financing for 

80% of the ships’ contract price for all ships in order.

Port Facilities
Amounts primarily represent future commitments to pay for the usage of certain port facilities.

In September 2019, the Group entered into an agreement with the Miami Dade County Commission 

for the development and operation of a new cruise terminal at PortMiami. The agreement provides 

for a lease of land over 62 years with undiscounted payments of EUR 1,642.5 million. In March 

2021, the 62-year agreement with the Miami Dade County Commission was amended to upsize 

the terminal facility to allow it to berth simultaneously up to three cruise ships. In consideration 

of the upsizing, the Miami Dade County has committed to certain additional contributions to the 

project. The lease was started in August 2021.

The Group port facilities agreements generally include force majeure provisions that alleviate the 

obligations under minimum guarantees during the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group has provided 

the required notice that such provisions were being enacted.

Other Commitments Given
Other commitments given mainly included marketing commitments (sponsorships) resulting from 

contracts, which may cover several periods/seasons.

21. Off-balance Sheet Commitments

Pledged Assets
Substantially all the group ships and buildings are pledged as collateral for their respective 

financial debt.

Guarantees
The following guarantees were in place as 31 December:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Guarantees given to consumer and consumer protection 
authorities 66.6 93.7

Guarantees given to suppliers 6.9 0.7

Guarantees received from travel agencies (2.5) (1.4)

The Group is required to establish financial responsibility by several of the jurisdictions in which 

it operates to meet its liabilities in the event of non-performance of its obligations to passengers 

from those jurisdictions.

22. Share Capital and Reserves

Share Capital
Authorised, issued and fully paid-up share capital, comprised of 250 registered shares of CHF 

1,000 par value each.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and 

are entitled to one vote per share at Company meetings.
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Retained Earnings
Accumulated company’s results and additional paid-in capital. In December 2021, EUR 50.0 

million from the subordinated loan has been capitalised on top of a EUR 400.0 million equity 

contribution (see Note 23 Related Parties).

Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Obligations
Accumulated effects from the remeasurement of the post-employment benefit liability.

Cash flow Hedges
Effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging instruments used in 

cash flow hedges, pending subsequent recognition as either profit or loss.

Currency Translation Difference
All foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 

entities included in the consolidation.

The movement of the other comprehensive income was as follows:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Derivatives on fuel 4.2 3.1

Interest rate swap 20.3 8.2

Other comprehensive (loss)/ income 24.5 11.3

Derivatives on fuel – (losses) (4.2) (6.7)

Interest rate swap – gain 19.7 22.5

Reclassified from other comprehensive income  
to profit or loss 15.5 15.8

23. Related Parties

Account balances and transactions between the consolidated entities have been eliminated 

upon combination and are not disclosed in this note. Transactions involving key management 

personnel and other related parties are disclosed below.

Key Management Personnel
The Group’s key management personnel comprises the Directors of the Group. The remuneration 

of Directors is covered by the parent Company, therefore no costs are incurred by the Group.

Other Related Party Transactions
The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Sale of services to other related parties 1.0 0.0

Total sales of services 1.0 0.0

Interest income from joint ventures 0.2 0.3

Interest income from other related parties - -

Total interest income 0.2 0.3

Purchases of services from joint ventures (1.6) (0.5)

Purchases of services from associates (0.5) (0.3)

Purchase of services from other related parties (37.1) (33.3)

Total purchase of services (39.2) (34.1)

Interest expenses with other related parties (1.1) (0.4)

Total interest expenses (1.1) (0.4)
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The balances arising from sales and purchases of services with related parties were as follows:

in millions of Euros 2021 2020

Long-term receivables from joint ventures 7.5 6.9

Long-term receivables from other related parties - -

Total long-term receivables from related parties  
(Note 19) 7.5 6.9

Trade and other receivables from joint ventures 2.9 16.4

Trade and other receivables from other related parties 16.9 76.3

Total trade and other receivables from related parties 
(Note 8) 19.8 92.7

Prepayments to other related parties - 1.2

Total prepayments to related parties (Note 10) - 1.2

Total assets 27.3 100.8

Trade and other payables to joint ventures 2.4 9.2

Trade and other payables to associates 1.6 0.2

Trade and other payables to other related parties 78.8 59.5

Total trade and other payables to related parties  
(Note 15) 82.8 68.9

Long-term financial debt 450.3 28.3

Current portion of long-term financial debt 4.1 3.5

Long-term financial debt to related parties (Note 19) 454.4 31.8

Total liabilities 537.2 100.7

Transactions with the Owners in their Capacity of Owners
In January 2021, the Group collected EUR 50.0 million related to the Bluvacanze Contribution, 

which was presented under the line trade and other receivables from other related parties at 31 

December 2020.

In January 2021, the Group and its parent Company entered into a subordinated shareholder 

loan agreement for an amount of EUR 172.5 million which was fully drawn by April 2021. The 

subordinated shareholder loan amount was progressively increased through successive drawdowns 

and decreased by equity conversion, to reach EUR 422.5 million at 31 December 2021.

In July 2021, the parent Company committed to a EUR 400.0 million equity contribution. This 

transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners resulted in an overall equity increase of 

EUR 400.0 million recorded within transactions with owners of the Company and consisted in an 

initial contribution of EUR 200.0 million in July 2021 and an additional contribution of EUR 200.0 

million in November 2021.

In addition, in December 2021, the parent Company decided to convert a EUR 50.0 million of the 

outstanding subordinated shareholder loan into a contribution to the Group’s equity reserves (the 

Equity Conversion), resulting in a total equity contribution of EUR 450.0 million over the financial year. 

In 2020, transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners resulted in an equity increase of 

EUR 109.3 million recorded within transactions with owners of the Company and mostly consisted 

of the acquisition, for a nominal consideration, of the Bluvacanze Group by MSC Cruises SA in 

an under-common-control business combination. The Bluvacanze Group consists of Bluvacanze 

S.p.A. and its fully owned subsidiaries Cisalpina Tours S.p.A and Going S.r.l.

The Bluvacanze Group was a longstanding supplier of the Group through its Italian travel agency 

network. Bluvacanze is also active in the field of business travel and tour operating through its 

subsidiaries Cisalpina Tours S.p.A and Going S.r.l. respectively.
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Assets and liabilities arising from Bluvacanze Contribution were as follows:

in millions of Euros Bluvacanze Group
Property, plant and equipment 7.0

Right-of-use assets 14.1

Tradenames 143.4

Other intangible assets 11.3

Other non-current assets 15.0

Trade receivable 5.8

Other current assets 10.7

Cash and cash equivalents 10.6

Current liabilities (54.6)

Non-current liabilities (56.3)

Net assets acquired 107.1

Total purchase price -

Acquiree’s cash and cash equivalents 10.6

Equity increase (107.1)

Net cash inflow on acquisition 10.6

Acquired tradenames referred to Bluvacanze, Vivere e Viaggiare, Cisalpina and Going.

The allocation of the acquisition price has been finalised and no adjustments were made to the 

acquisition values.

24. Subsequent Events

In January 2022, the Company’s shareholder, Mediterranean Shipping Company Holding SA, has 

provided a shareholder loan for an amount of EUR 250.0 million. In February 2022, the Company’s 

shareholder has confirmed a further support in the form of a shareholder loan amounting to EUR 

600.0 million to allow the Group paying down the full amount of the drawn Revolving Credit Facility. 

Funds are planned to be received within March 2022 to pay down the equivalent amount by the 

end of the same month.

25. List of Group Entities
I: Full consolidation method            E: Equity method

2021 2020
Entity Country Interest 

held
Consolidation 

method
Interest 

held
Consolidation 

method

MSC Cruceros SA Argentina 95% I 95% I

MSC Cruises (Australia) Pty Ltd Australia 100% I 100% I

MSC Kreuzfahrten (Austria) Gmbh Austria 100% I 100% I

MSC Ocean Cay Ltd Bahamas 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruises Belgium NV Belgium 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruzeiros Do Brasil Ltda Brazil 99% I 99% I

MSC Italcatering Do Brasil Ltda Brazil 99% I 99% I

MSC Cruises (Canada) Ltd Canada 100% I 100% I

Mediterranean Cruises Travel Agency  
(Shanghai) Co Ltd China 50% E 50% E

MSC Cruises Asia Company Ltd China 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruises Ship Management (Shanghai) 
Ltd China 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruises Shipping Service (Shanghai) Ltd China 100% I 100% I

MSC Krstarenja Doo Croatia 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruises Ltd Cyprus 100% I 100% I

Marseille Provence Cruise Terminal SAS France 50% E 50% E

SNC Fantasia Bail France 100% I 100% I

SNC Splendida Bail France 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruises Gmbh Germany 100% I 100% I

Cruise Conglomerate Maritime Ltd Guernsey 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruises (Ireland) Ltd Ireland 100% I 100% I

Bluvacanze Spa Italy 100% I 100% I

Cisalpina Tours Spa Italy 100% I 100% I

Going Srl Italy 100% I 100% I

Gwart Srl Italy 30% E 30% E

MSC Food & Beverage Division Spa Italy 100% I 100% I

MSC Mediagrafica Srl Italy 100% I 100% I
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2021 2020
Entity Country Interest 

held
Consolidation 

method
Interest 

held
Consolidation 

method

Spezia & Carrara Cruise Terminal Srl Italy 33% E 33% E

Trieste Adriatic Maritime Initiatives Srl Italy 35% E 35% E

Venezia Investimenti Srl Italy 25% E 25% E

West Sicily Gates Srl Italy 50% E - -

MSC Cruises Japan Ltd Japan 100% I 100% I

Msc Malta Seafarers Company Ltd Malta 100% I 100% I

Palumbo Malta Shipyard Limited Malta 50% E 50% E

Palumbo Shipyard Limited Malta 50% E 50% E

Hospedagm De Pomene (Mozambique) Lda Mozambique 100% I 100% I

MSC Logistics (Mozambique) Ltd Mozambique 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruises The Netherlands BV Netherlands 100% I 100% I

CNS Compañia Naviera Seaside 1 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Evo 1 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Evo 2 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Fantasia SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Meraviglia SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Musica SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compania Naviera Ocean Cay SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Orchestra SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Pacifica S.A. Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Preziosa SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Seaside 2 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Serenata SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Vista 1 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Vista 2 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Vista 3 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Vista 4 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Vista 5 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera World Class 1 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera World Class 2 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera World Class 3 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

2021 2020
Entity Country Interest 

held
Consolidation 

method
Interest 

held
Consolidation 

method

Compañia Naviera World Class 4 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Yc1 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Yc2 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Yc3 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Yc4 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Yc5 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Compañia Naviera Yc6 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

New Co Armonia SA Panama 100% I 100% I

New Co Lirica SA Panama 100% I 100% I

New Co Opera SA Panama 100% I 100% I

New Co S32 SA Panama 100% I 100% I

New Co Sinfonia SA Panama 100% I 100% I

Nualy Investments Inc Panama 100% I 100% I

Msc Crewing Services Philippines Philippines 25% E 25% E

MSC Cruzeiros SA Portugal 98% I 98% I

Kwazulu Cruise Terminal (Pty) Ltd South Africa 70% I 70% I

MSC Starlight Cruises Pty Ltd South Africa 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruceros SA Spain 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruises Barcelona Terminal SL Spain 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruises Scandinavia AB Sweden 100% I 100% I

Explora SA Switzerland 100% I - -

MSC Kreuzfahrten AG Switzerland 100% I 100% I

MSC Kruvaziyer Turizm AS Turkey 100% I 100% I

Goulette Cruise Holding Limited UK 50% E 50% E

MSC Cruise Management (UK) Ltd UK 100% I 100% I

MSC Cruises Limited UK 100% I 100% I

Musica Cruise Limited UK 100% I 100% I

Preziosa Cruise Limited UK 100% I 100% I

Terminal De Cruceros Punta Del Este SA Uruguay 80% I 80% I

MSC Cruises (USA) Inc USA 100% I 100% I

MSC Miami Cruise Terminal LLC USA 100% I 100% I
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STATUTORY AUDITOR’S REPORT

 
 

Statutory Auditor's Report 
To the General Meeting of MSC Cruises SA, Geneva 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of MSC Cruises SA, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 
December 2021, and the income statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the financial statements (pages 78 to 95) for the year ended 31 December 2021 comply with Swiss 
law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law 
and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority 

 

 Implications of the COVID-19 pandemic for the going concern basis 
 

 
Valuation of investments and financial assets  

  

   
Revenue recognition 

 

 
Related party transactions 

 
 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 

the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. 

 
 

  

 
 

  
Implications of the COVID-19 pandemic for the going concern basis 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 Management believes that the ongoing effects of 
COVID-19 on the company’s operations and global 
bookings have had, and will continue to have, a 
significant impact on the company’s financial results 
and liquidity.  

Management has taken several measures to improve 
the company’s liquidity, including capital expenditure 
and operating expense reductions, including moving 
the company’s ships to warm lay-up, amending its 
export credit agreements to defer payment and 
covenants requirements, and pursuing new financing 
opportunities and capital market transactions. 

The principal assumptions used in management’s 
future cash flow projections used to estimate future 
liquidity requirements consisted of the expected 
gradual resumption of cruise operations; the expected 
lower than comparable historical occupancy levels 
during the resumption of cruise operations and the 
expected refinancing of the EUR 600 million revolving 
credit facility expiring in February 2023.  

Based on these actions and considering the principal 
assumptions for future cash flow projections, 
management has concluded that the company has 
sufficient liquidity to satisfy its obligations for at least 
the next twelve months. 

This assessment required significant management 
judgment. We therefore identified management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements as 
a key audit matter. 

We inquired with management and the Board of 
Directors as to the influence of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and its travel restrictions on MSC Cruises, both direct 
and indirect and in the short and medium term. We 
discussed the key assumptions and scenarios used by 
the management in their assessment. 
 
We analysed the company’s future cash flow projections 
prepared by management. We challenged the 
robustness of key assumptions used by management in 
the cash flow forecasts. We also assessed 
management’s forecasting accuracy by comparing prior 
period forecasts to the actual outcome.  
 
Based on our understanding of the company and the 
cruise industry, we critically assessed the impacts of the 
measures taken by management relating to forecast 
income and expenditure, the deferral of debt 
repayments and financial covenants, as well as the 
capital expenditure, and we recalculated the liquidity 
planning. We also challenged management with respect 
to the more severe adverse scenario and the feasibility 
of potential additional measures.  
 
We also assessed the availability of credit facilities by 
inspecting agreements signed both before and after the 
reporting date.  
 
Furthermore, we considered the appropriateness of the 
information disclosed.  

 For further information on the implications of COVID-19 refer to the following: 

— Note 2, Summary of Accounting Principles Adopted, Going Concern 

— Note 22, Subsequent Events 
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Valuation of investments and financial assets  

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 As at 31 December 2021, investments and financial 
assets amounted to EUR 570 million and EUR 1,132 
million, respectively.  

These balances largely relate to MSC Cruises Ltd 
(Cyprus), which investment’s carrying value was 
revalued in 2020 by an amount of EUR 473 million to 
eliminate a deficit balance in accordance with 
article 670 of the Swiss Code of Obligations.  

Due to the significance of these assets in the financial 
statements, we consider the impairment assessment 
of the investment in MSC Cruises Ltd (Cyprus) and 
the relating financial asset as complex and, therefore, 
as a key audit matter. Management is required to 
make judgements, in particular, in relation to the 
forecast cash flows, future growth rate and the 
discount rate applied, and is therefore an area 
requiring special audit consideration. 

We evaluated the accuracy of the impairment test, the 
appropriateness of the assumptions used, and the 
methodology used by management to prepare its cash 
flow forecast. With the support of internal valuation 
specialists, we evaluated the discount rate used in the 
model. 
 
We also tested the design, implementation and 
operating effectiveness of certain key controls over the 
preparation of the impairment test. 
 
We challenged the robustness of the key assumptions 
used to determine the value of MSC Cruises Ltd 
(Cyprus) used as a basis for the impairment 
assessment. In particular, we challenged the cash flows 
forecast, long-term growth rate and the discount rate 
based on our assessment of the economic prospects of 
MSC Cruises Ltd (Cyprus). We verified that, in 
particular, this included assessing the Group’s fleet, 
capacity, and occupancy, as well as the impact of 
COVID-19 on the impairment test. 
 
 
  

 For further information on investments and financial assets refer to the following: 

— Note 2, Summary of Accounting Principles Adopted 

— Note 7, Financial Assets 

— Note 10, Investments  

 

  
Revenue recognition 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 In 2021, the entity has revenues from passenger tickets 
amounting to EUR 378 million, on board revenue 
amounting to EUR 247 million. As at 31 December 
2021, customer deposits and time charter advances 
amount to EUR 507 million. 

Revenue from the sale of passenger tickets for cruise 
voyages is recorded at the end of each cruise. 
Revenue from onboard sales is recognized when the 
goods are delivered to the customers. Customer 
deposits and time charter advances represent 

We considered the appropriateness of the entity’s 
revenue recognition accounting policies with particular 
emphasis on the risk identified opposite.  

We assessed and tested the operating effectiveness 
of relevant internal controls over revenue recognition. 
We also evaluated the appropriateness of the 
company’s customer deposits and time charter 
advances by taking a sample of unearned revenues 
for future cruise voyages and assessing whether they 
were accurately recorded. 

 
 

unearned revenues from advance ticket sales for future 
voyages and are initially recorded as liabilities. 

We focused on the revenue recognition to address the 
risk that revenue is not recorded in the appropriate 
period relating to cruises that straddle the year-end and 
for revenue that has been received in advance of the 
cruise departure, which is deferred until the voyage has 
taken place. 

We assessed the entity’s cut-off for cruise voyages 
over year-end by comparing management’s estimate 
to data such as cruise departure dates, duration, and 
related cruise voyages revenue and cost. 

We also considered the appropriateness of the 
entity’s disclosures in respect of revenue as well as 
customer deposits and time charter advances 
throughout the financial statements. 

 

 For further information on revenue refer to the following: 

— Note 2, Summary of Accounting Principles Adopted, Revenue Recognition 

— Note 16, Income from Operations 

  
Related party transactions 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 There have been numerous transactions with 
counterparties where the entity or key management 
personnel of the entity have interests and/or are 
directors, and the entity carries a number of balances 
with related parties.  

There is a risk that not all related party receivables 
and payables are separately presented or disclosed 
in the financial statements in accordance with the 
requirements of Swiss accounting law, and therefore 
that insufficient information is provided in order to 
enable the reader to understand the nature of these 
related party balances. Additionally, there is a risk 
that such transactions are not recognized in 
accordance with the requirements of Swiss 
accounting law. 

We compared the list of related parties provided by 
management with internal and external sources to 
evaluate whether all related party relationships and 
transactions have been appropriately identified, 
accounted for and disclosed.  
 
For each class of related party balance we compared 
the financial statements presentation and disclosures 
against the underlying transactions and the related 
accounting requirements.  
 
We also considered the appropriateness of disclosures 
regarding related parties. 

 For further information on related party transactions refer to the following: 

— Note 3, Trade Receivables 

— Note 7, Financial Assets 
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Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the 
provisions of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of 
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to 
the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

KPMG SA 

Carlos Alvarez 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Peter Dauwalder 
Licensed Audit Expert 

Geneva, 10 March 2022 

KPMG SA, Esplanade de Pont-Rouge 6, CH-1211 Geneva 26

© 2022 KPMG AG, a Swiss corporation, is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs

At 31 December Notes 2021 2020 2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents  285.6 155.1  295.6 167.8
Trade receivables 3 185.6 254.8 192.1 275.6
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 4  96.2 28.6  99.5 30.9
Other current assets 6 64.9 140.9 67.1 152.4
Inventories 5  86.7 70.6  89.8 76.3
Total current assets 719.0 650.0 744.1 703.0
Financial assets 7 1,131.9 973.3 1,171.5 1,052.7
Other non-current assets  26.6 41.7  27.6 45.2
Investments 10  570.2 540.3  590.2 584.3
Property, plant and equipment 8  312.5 330.9  323.4 357.9
Intangible assets 9  40.5 51.4  41.9 55.6
Total non-current assets 2,081.7 1,937.6 2,154.6 2,095.7
Total assets  2,800.7 2,587.6  2,898.7 2,798.7
Trade payables 11 279.7 421.3 289.5 455.5
Current bank overdrafts  700.0 702.0  724.5 759.4
Short-term interest-bearing financial debt 14  37.8 264.5  39.1 286.0
Other current liabilities 13  19.6 30.2  20.3 32.6
Current provisions  56.7 85.7  58.7  92.6 
Customer deposits and time charter advances  507.2 295.4  524.9 319.6
Accrued expenses and deferred income 12  119.6 74.5  123.8 80.6
Total current liabilities 1,720.6 1,873.6 1,780.8 2,026.3
Long-term interest-bearing financial debt 14 943.9 648.6 976.8 701.5
Other non-current liabilities  69.0 59.4  71.4 64.3
Non-current provisions  7.0 5.8  7.3 6.3
Total non-current liabilities 1,019.9 713.8 1,055.5 772.1
Total liabilities  2,740.5 2,587.4  2,836.3 2,798.4
Share capital 15  0.2 0.2  0.3 0.3
Statutory retained earnings 15 0.0 473.3 0.0 511.9
Voluntary retained earnings 15  60.0 (473.3)  44.1 (506.2)
Currency translation reserve 15  -   -  18.0 (5.7)
Total shareholders’ equity  60.2 0.2  62.4 0.3
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  2,800.7 2,587.6  2,898.7 2,798.7
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INCOME STATEMENT

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs

For the year ended 31 December Notes 2021 2020 2021 2020

Income from operations 16 671.3 705.4 725.9 755.2

Other operating income 2.0 2.8 2.2 2.9

Total operating income 673.3 708.2 728.1 758.1

Vessel hire and related operating expenses 17 (818.6) (1,007.3) (885.2) (1,078.2)

Selling, general and administrative expenses 18 (189.6) (167.6) (205.0) (179.5)

Total operating expenses (1,008.2) (1,174.9) (1,090.2) (1,257.7)

Operating results (334.9) (466.7) (362.1) (499.6)

Financial income 19 32.6 16.8 35.3 18.0

Financial expenses 19 (86.1) (58.7) (93.1) (62.9)

Non-operating income 1.1 4.2 1.2 4.5

Non-operating expenses (1.9) - (2.1) -

Loss for the year before taxes  (389.2) (504.4) (420.8) (540.0)

Direct taxes (0.8) (0.5) (0.9) (0.5)

Loss for the year  (390.0) (504.9)  (421.7) (540.5)

PRIMARY STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Company Structure and Activity

MSC Cruises SA (hereinafter “the Company”) was incorporated on 7 March 2006 and is registered 

at Avenue Eugène-Pittard 40, 1206 Geneva, Switzerland. The purpose of the Company is the 

operation of cruise ships and to organise and sell cruise voyages.

The Company may carry out any activities relating directly or indirectly to its main activity. The 

Company may provide financial assistance to its affiliated companies.

The average number of employees during the year is more than 250 (2020: more than 250).

2. Summary of Accounting Principles Adopted

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the principles of the Swiss Law 

on Accounting and Financial Reporting (32nd title of the Swiss Code of Obligations). Where not 

prescribed by law, the significant accounting and valuation principles applied are described below.

Going Concern
The Company is gradually returning to full fleet operations.

During the year 2021, the Company has built on the successful implementation of its 

industry-first health and safety protocol, operating safely in all its main markets and 

achieving a high level of customer satisfaction. The vaccination campaigns around the globe, 

together with the progressive release of the protective measures against the COVID-19 had 

positive impacts on the operation and occupancy level during the summer season 2021. The 

Company in that period was able to resume up to 12 ships distributed across Mediterranean, 

Northern Europe, Caribbean and Saudi Arabia - Red Sea. It continued to build on such 

positive results during the winter season returning to South Africa, United Arab Emirates 

and South America, continuing operating in Mediterranean and Caribbean, and debuting, 

during that season, in Saudi Arabia - Red Sea and Northern Europe. A total of 13 ships were 

in operations at year-end 2021, out of the 19 available, representing almost 80% of MSC 

Cruises’ guest capacity. The total occupancy peaked at 80% in the month of August and 

then averaged at around 54% over the full year.

During the year 2021, the Company and its subsidiaries executed the additional 12-month 

debt holiday initiative (the Second Debt Holiday) amending all the related export-credit backed 

facilities. The measure allowed to defer an aggregate amount of EUR 45.0 million which will be 

repaid over a five-year period starting in April 2022. It has also extended of 364 days its EUR 

600.0 million Revolving Credit Facility. The facility was originally set to expire in February 2022 

and has been extended up to February 2023.

MSC Mediterranean Shipping Company Holding SA (hereinafter “MSC Holding”), the sole 

shareholder of the MSC Cruises SA, has firmly supported the Company during the various phases 

of the pandemic and allowed to bolster the liquidity position and strengthen the Company’s 

balance sheet position. The Company has benefitted from an aggregate amount of EUR 872.5 

million, provided either in the form of shareholder loan or as equity contribution.

As at 31 December 2021, cash and cash equivalent amounts to EUR 285.6 million (2020: EUR 

155.1 million), and the Revolving Credit Facility remains fully utilised.

The extension of the COVID-19 pandemic still impacts the Company financial results and liquidity. 

In this context, the management built up scenarios with assumptions that management considers 

to realistically reflect various risks and uncertainties such as occupancy level and liquidity 
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availability over a period of more than 12 months from the date of authorisation of the Company 

Board of Directors of these consolidated financial statements.

The estimation of the future cash flow projections includes the following principal assumptions:

 - Expected staggered ramp-up to full fleet operation by spring 2022;

 - Expected occupancy level ranging from 70% during winter season to 90% during the summer 

season;

 - Expected deliveries of new ships as per ship building contracts in place;

 - Expected refinancing of the EUR 600.0 million Revolving Credit Facility due in February 2023.

The Company is continually taking measures to improve its liquidity from the operations through 

tight costs control going along with the fleet deployment, and from financing through capital 

management restructuring opportunities including the waiving of debt covenants.

The Company has negotiated and obtained a waiver extension, in addition to the one allowed by the 

Second Debt Holiday, for certain of its covenants and with reference to the financial year ending 31 

December 2022.

In December 2021, the Company shareholder has committed for an additional support in the 

form of shareholder loans of up to EUR 450.0 million to be granted to the Company for EUR 250.0 

million in January 2022 and EUR 200.0 million, if necessary, in February 2023. January 2022 

support has been cashed as committed.

More recently, in February 2022, the Company shareholder has confirmed a further support in the 

form of a shareholder loan amounting to EUR 600.0 million to allow the Company paying down 

the full amount of the drawn Revolving Credit Facility. Funds are planned to be received within 

March 2022 to pay down the equivalent amount by the end of the same month.  Such measures 

are, to a greater extent, strengthening the Company’s balance sheet position and confirm the 

willingness of the shareholder to continue supporting MSC Cruises SA over the evolution of the 

pandemic and throughout the resumption of the full fleet operations.

In the light of the above, the management concluded that the Company has sufficient liquidity to 

satisfy the Company’s obligations for at least the next 12 months from the date of authorisation 

of the Board of Directors of these financial statements.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The cost of inventories is 

determined using the weighted average cost method. The net realisable value is the estimated 

selling price in the ordinary course of business. Previous write-downs to net realisable value are 

reversed when there is a subsequent increase in the value of such inventories.

The Company has furthermore the possibility to accrue a general allowance without economic 

reason, which is admissible under Swiss law.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue relating to the sale of cruise voyages, including on-board sales of services and all 

associated direct costs including travel agencies’ commissions, are recognised in profit or loss 

at the end of each cruise.

Revenue from onboard sales of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards 

of ownership are transferred to the customers, that is when the goods are delivered to the 

customers.

Upfront deposits represent unearned revenues from advance ticket sales for future voyages 

and are initially recorded within customer deposits and time charter advances when the right to 

the collection of the deposit arises. Customer deposits are subsequently recognised as cruises 

revenue together with all associated direct costs and expenses at the end of each cruise.
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Dividends are recorded when the legal claim to them has arisen.

Interest income and expenses are recognised on a pro-rata basis using the effective interest rate 

method.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits and credit card receivables. 

Credit card receivables, net of processing fees, not yet credited to the bank accounts at the 

reporting date, are considered as cash equivalents if they are expected to be credited within one 

week after the reporting date.

Investments
Investments are initially recognised at cost. Investments are assessed annually and, in case of 

an impairment, adjusted to their recoverable amount within their category. Investments may be 

revalued in compliance with the article 670 of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

Financial Assets
Financial assets include guarantee deposits and long-term receivables from related parties, 

recognised at their acquisition cost and are subsequently adjusted for any impairment losses.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 

accumulated impairment losses. Costs include expenditures directly attributable to the acquisition 

of the assets and to bringing the assets to a working condition intended for their use.

Subsequent expenditures are capitalised only when it is probable that the related future economic 

benefits will flow to the Company. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their 

estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost less accumulated amortisation and any 

accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives 

using the straight-line method.

Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are recognised on the balance sheet based on the applied revenue recognition 

principle. Trade receivables are recorded at their original net invoice amount. The allowance for 

doubtful receivables represents the Company’s estimate of incurred and projected losses that 

arise from the failure or inability of customers to make payments when due. These estimates are 

based on the ageing of customers’ balances, specific credit circumstances and the Company’s 

historical bad receivables experience.

Interest-bearing Financial Debt
Interest-bearing financial debt includes loans received from financial institutions and bonds. It is 

classified as current and non-current depending on whether related payments are expected to 

be incurred within twelve months from the balance sheet date or beyond.

Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency of the Company is the Euro. Accordingly, throughout the year, all 

commercial transactions not denominated in Euro are translated into Euro at the exchange rate 

prevailing on the date of the transaction.
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At period-end, assets and liabilities are translated into Swiss francs using the exchange rate 

prevailing at the end of the reporting period, except for shareholders’ equity which is valued at 

historical exchange rates. The income statement is translated at the yearly average exchange 

rate. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in a specific reserve under shareholders’ 

equity.

The exchange rates to Euro of the Swiss franc are as follows:

31 Dec 2021 Average 2021 31 Dec 2020 Average 2020

CHF 1.03 1.08 1.08 1.07

3. Trade Receivables

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

From third parties, gross 75.5 53.5 78.1 57.9

From third parties, allowance (13.7) (10.4) (14.2) (11.3)

Total, net 61.8 43.1  63.9 46.6

From related parties, gross 143.4 222.5 148.4 240.7

From related parties, allowance (19.6) (10.8)  (20.2) (11.7)

Total, net 123.8 211.7 128.2 229.0

Total 185.6 254.8 192.1 275.6

4. Prepaid Expenses and Accrued Income

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

From third parties 72.3 24.6  74.8 26.6

From related parties  23.9 4.0 24.7 4.3

Total  96.2 28.6  99.5 30.9

5. Inventories

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Onboard inventories 81.7 69.4 84.6 75.0

Ashore inventories 14.4 9.9 15.0 10.7

Allowance for obsolete inventories (9.4) (8.7) (9.8) (9.4)

Total 86.7 70.6 89.8 76.3

6. Other Current Assets

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

From third parties 15.8 22.3 16.4 24.1

From related parties 49.1 118.6 50.7 128.3

Total 64.9 140.9 67.1 152.4
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7. Financial Assets

Financial assets include long-term receivables of EUR 1,130.0 million (2020: EUR 967.4 million) 

corresponding to CHF 1,169.6 million (2020: CHF 1,046.3 million) from indirect subsidiaries, i.e. 

related parties, which carry an annual interest of 2.00% (2020: 1.00%).

8. Property, Plant and Equipment

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Buildings and leasehold  
improvements 309.8 327.1 320.6 353.8

Other equipment 2.7 3.8 2.8 4.1

Total 312.5 330.9 323.4 357.9

9. Intangible Assets

At 31 December 2021, intangibles assets are software amounted to EUR 40.5 million (2020: 

EUR 51.4 million) corresponding to CHF 41.9 million (2020: CHF 55.6 million).

10. Investments

List of the direct subsidiaries of the Company, associates and joint ventures.

Country Company 2021/2020

Argentina MSC Cruceros SA 95% / 95%

Australia MSC Cruises (Australia) Pty Ltd 100% / 100%

Austria MSC Kreuzfahrten (Austria) Gmbh 100% / 100%

Bahamas MSC Ocean Cay Ltd 100% / 100%

Belgium MSC Cruises Belgium NV 100% / 100%

Brazil MSC Cruzeiros Do Brasil Ltda 99% / 99%

Canada MSC Cruises (Canada) Ltd 100% / 100%

China Mediterranean Cruises Travel Agency (Shanghai) Co Ltd 50% / 50%

China MSC Cruises Asia Company Ltd 100% / 100%

China MSC Cruises Ship Management (Shanghai) Ltd 99.95% / 99.95%

China MSC Cruises Shipping Service (Shanghai) Ltd 100% / 100%

Croatia MSC Krstarenja Doo 100% / 100%

Cyprus MSC Cruises Ltd 100% / 100%

France Marseille Provence Cruise Terminal SAS 50% / 50%

Germany MSC Cruises Gmbh 100% / 100%

Ireland MSC Cruises (Ireland) Ltd 100% / 100%

Italy Bluvacanze Spa 100% / 100%

Italy MSC Food & Beverage Division Spa 100% / 100%

Italy MSC Mediagrafica Srl 100% / 100%

Italy Spezia & Carrara Cruise Terminal Srl 33% / 33%
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Country Company 2021/2020

Italy Trieste Adriatic Maritime Initiatives Srl 35.5% / 35.5%

Italy Venezia Investimenti Srl 25% / 25%

Italy West Sicily Gates Srl 50% / -

Japan MSC Cruises Japan Ltd 100% / 100%

Malta Palumbo Malta Shipyard Limited 50% / 50%

Malta Palumbo Shipyard Limited 50% / 50%

Mozambique MSC Logistics (Mozambique) Ltd 100% / 100%

Netherlands MSC Cruises The Netherlands BV 100% / 100%

Portugal MSC Cruzeiros SA 98% / 98%

South Africa Kwazulu Cruise Terminal (Pty) Ltd 70% / 70%

South Africa MSC Starlight Cruises Pty Ltd 100% / 100%

Spain MSC Cruceros SA 100% / 100%

Spain MSC Cruises Barcelona Terminal SL 100% / 100%

Sweden MSC Cruises Scandinavia AB 100% / 100%

Switzerland Explora SA 100% / -

Switzerland MSC Kreuzfahrten AG 100% / 100%

Turkey MSC Kruvaziyer Turizm AS 100% / 100%

UK Goulette Cruise Holding Limited 50% / 50%

UK MSC Cruises Limited 100% / 100%

Uruguay Terminal De Cruceros Punta Del Este SA 80% / 80%

USA MSC Cruises (USA) Inc 100% / 100%

USA MSC Miami Cruise Terminal LLC 100% / 100%

The percentages shown in the table above refer to the percentage of share capital owned, 

corresponding to the percentage of voting rights, and represent the Company’s direct interests 

in the subsidiaries. In addition, the Company indirectly owns, via its subsidiary MSC Cruises Ltd 

(Cyprus), 100% of the share capital and voting rights of the entities that operate, own or lease 

the ships hired by the Company.

In 2020, the Company has revalued its investment in MSC Cruises Ltd (Cyprus) for an amount of EUR 

473.3 million (CHF 511.9 million) in accordance with article 670 of the Swiss Code of Obligations 

with a corresponding increase in equity included in the revaluation reserve. The revaluation offset 

the loss of the period, restored the Company’s net worth to the original amount of the share capital 

and general legal retained earnings and was subject to the relevant audit procedures required by 

Swiss law.

In December 2020, MSC Cruises acquired 100% of the shares in Bluvacanze S.p.A for a nominal 

consideration of EUR 1 (CHF 1) from an entity ultimately controlled by the same parent Company.
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11. Trade Payables

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Due to third parties 101.9 61.6 105.5 66.5

Due to related parties 177.8 359.7 184.0 389.0

Total 279.7 421.3 289.5 455.5

12. Accrued Expenses and Deferred Income

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Due to third parties 109.4 41.0 113.2 44.3

Due to related parties  10.2 33.5  10.6 36.3

Total  119.6 74.5  123.8 80.6

13. Other Current Liabilities

At 31 December 2021, other current liabilities include liabilities to pension funds regarding 

administrative salaries for EUR 0.2 million (2020: EUR 0.7 million), which corresponds to CHF 

0.2 million (2020: CHF 0.8 million).

14. Interest-Bearing Financial Debt

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Loans 231.1 419.5 239.1 453.7

Subordinated shareholder loans 423.0 - 437.8 -

Bond (CHF 195 million) - 180.5 - 195.2

Bond (CHF 335 million) 327.6 313.1 339.0 338.6

Total 981.7 913.1 1,015.9 987.5 

In November 2016, the Company issued a bond with a nominal value of CHF 195.0 million. At 

maturity date, on 30 November 2021, the Company redeemed the bond.

In July 2017, the Company issued a bond with a nominal value of CHF 335.0 million. The bond 

matures on 14 July 2023 and offers a coupon of 3% which is paid once a year.

During 2020, the Company amended all of its export-credit backed ship debt facilities to benefit 

from a 12-month debt holiday initiative (the First Debt Holiday) offered to the cruise industry 

by SACE, the official export credit agency of Italy. The First Debt Holiday provides interim debt 

service and financial covenant relief for borrowers during the current global COVID-19 pandemic 

with respect to their SACE guaranteed financings. The amended agreements provide that, among 

other things, (a) amortisation payments due from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 (the “First 

Deferral Period”) on the loans will be deferred and (b) the principal amounts so deferred will 

constitute separate tranches of loans under the facilities. These amendments allowed for the 

deferral of an aggregate amount of EUR 38 million (CHF 41 million). The separate tranches of 

loans accrue interests equivalent to the original facilities plus a margin. The new amounts being 

deferred are scheduled to be repaid over a four-year period starting in April 2021.
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In 2021, the Company has been granted access to an additional 12-month debt holiday initiative 

(the Second Debt Holiday) offered by the same export credit agency and has initiated the process 

of amending all of its export-credit backed facilities, including the separate tranches constituted 

under the First Debt Holiday, to provide that, among other things, (a) amortisation payments due 

from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 (the “Second Deferral Period”) on the loans will be deferred 

and (b) the principal amounts so deferred will constitute separate tranches of loans under the 

facilities. The 2021amendments allow for the deferral of an aggregate amount of EUR 45 million 

(CHF 49 million). Second Deferral-Period tranches will accrue interests equivalent to the original 

facilities plus a margin and will be repaid over a five-year period starting in April 2022.

In September 2021, the secured term loan has been early terminated. The total amount was 

totally reimbursed by MSC Holding. The balance due to Credit Suisse by the Company is now due 

to MSC Holding and is now considered into the Subordinated shareholder loan.

In September, the Company completed a 364-day extension up to February 2023 of its EUR 

600.0 million Revolving Credit Facility, which was originally set to expire in February 2022. The 

facility bears interest at Euribor 3m/6m plus a spread of 375 bps (250 bps before the extension).

15. Shareholders’ Equity

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Share-capital  0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3

General legal retained earnings 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Revaluation reserve - 473.3 - 511.9

Statutory retained earnings 0.0 473.3 0.0 511.9

General voluntary reserve 450.0 - 465.8 -

Results carried forward - 31.6 - 34.3

Loss for the year  (390.0) (504.9)  (421.7) (540.5)

Voluntary retained earnings  60.0 (473.3)  44.1 (506.2)

Currency translation reserve - -  18.0 (5.7)

Total  60.2 0.2  62.4 0.3

The authorised, issued and fully paid-up share capital is composed of 250 registered shares 

of CHF 1,000 par value each, which corresponds to historical cost at 31 December 2021 

amounting to EUR 0.2 million (CHF 0.3 million) and thus remained unchanged compared to the 

previous year.

In December 2021, EUR 50.0 million from the subordinated loan has been capitalised on top of 

the equity contributions by the shareholders of EUR 200.0 million in July 2021 and of EUR 200.0 

million in November 2021.

The Company allocated appropriate amounts of its earnings to the general legal retained earnings 

in accordance with Swiss law. Since the general legal retained earnings amounted to 20% of 

the share capital, no additional allocation was required. General legal retained earnings are not 

readily available for distribution to shareholders.

No dividends were distributed during 2021 (2020: none).
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16. Income from Operations

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Ticket revenue 378.0 468.6 408.8 501.6

Time charter revenue  45.8 33.5 49.5 35.9

Onboard revenue 247.5 203.3  267.6 217.7

Total 671.3 705.4 725.9 755.2

17. Vessel Hire and Related Operating Expenses

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Vessel hire and running expenses (495.1) (688.0) (535.4) (736.5)

Travel agencies commissions (45.7) (49.3) (49.4) (52.7)

Other operating commissions (111.3) (101.1) (120.4) (108.2)

Passengers travel expenses (16.9) (34.3) (18.2) (36.8)

Onboard sales costs (143.6) (129.0) (155.3) (138.0)

Amortisation of intangible assets (6.0) (5.6) (6.5) (6.0)

Total (818.6) (1,007.3) (885.2) (1,078.2)

18. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Marketing expenses (56.3) (40.1) (60.9) (43.0)

Administrative salaries and social 
charges (43.7) (41.8) (47.3) (44.7)

Repairs and maintenance  
on hardware and software (16.2) (10.0) (17.4) (10.7)

Depreciation of property, plant  
and equipment (16.4) (14.8)  (17.7) (15.9)

Amortisation of intangible assets (15.1) (15.1) (16.4) (16.2)

Other general and administrative 
expenses

(41.9) (45.8) (45.3) (49.0)

Total (189.6) (167.6) (205.0) (179.5)

19. Financial Income and Expenses

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Gain on derivatives on foreign 
exchange rate  0.2 1.3 0.3 1.4

Gain on debt restructuring 8.1 3.3 8.7 3.5

Dividends 1.9 2.1 2.0 2.3

Interests on long-term receivables 
from related parties  22.2 9.3 24.0 9.9

Other financial income  0.2 0.8 0.3 0.9

Total 32.6 16.8 35.3 18.0
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in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Interests on interest-bearing  
long-term financial debt (66.4) (22.8) (71.8) (24.5)

Foreign exchange loss (18.2) (19.2) (19.6) (20.5)

Other financial expenses (1.5) (16.7) (1.7) (17.9)

Total (86.1) (58.7) (93.1) (62.9)

20. Claims and Litigations

From time to time, the Company is involved in legal proceedings. These encompass a range of 

topics, such as disputes with foreign tax authorities, claims asserted by passengers or ports 

and disputes arising from contractual relationships with agents and suppliers. Naturally, the 

outcome of such legal disputes cannot be predicted with any certainty. Provisions for pending 

and imminent proceedings are recorded if a payment obligation is probable and its amount can 

be reliably determined. It is possible that the outcome of individual proceedings for which no 

provisions were recorded may result in payment obligations whose amounts could not have been 

foreseen with enough accuracy at 31 December 2021. Such payment obligations should not 

have any significant influence on the Company’s net assets and earnings positions.

21. Commitments and Guarantees

Commitments for cruise vessel hire

The ships operated by the Company are hired under long-term lease agreements.

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Less than 1 year 738.1 530.3 763.9 573.6

From 1 to 5 years 3,010.8 2,403.0 3,116.1 2,599.0

More than 5 years 2,054.1 1,588.4 2,125.9 1,718.0

Total 5,803.0 4,521.7 6,005.9 4,890.6 

Other commitments

At 31 December

in millions of Euros in millions of Swiss francs
2021 2020 2021 2020

Rental lease contracts 38.4 43.7 39.7 47.3

Port facilities 80.9 74.4 83.7 80.5

Sponsorships  14.7 12.1 15.2 13.1

Total 134.0 130.2 138.6 140.9

Guarantees

At 31 December 2021, the Company issued various guarantees in favour of third parties for 

an amount totalling EUR 55.2 million (2020: EUR 7.3 million) which corresponded to CHF 57.1 

million (2020: CHF 8.0 million).
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22. Subsequent Events

In January 2022, the Company’s shareholder, Mediterranean Shipping Company Holding SA, 

has provided a shareholder loan for an amount of EUR 250.0 million. In February 2022, the 

Company’s shareholder has confirmed a further support in the form of a shareholder loan 

amounting to EUR 600.0 million to allow the Company paying down the full amount of the drawn 

Revolving Credit Facility. Funds are planned to be received within March 2022 to pay down the 

equivalent amount by the end of the same month.
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In the business performance section of the 2021 Annual Report, the Group uses several 

Alternative Performance Measures that are listed and defined below:

ALBDs
ALBDs (Available Lower Berth Days) is a standard measure of passenger capacity for the period, 

which is use to perform rate and capacity variance analyses to determine the main non-capacity 

driven factors that cause our cruise revenues and expenses to vary. ALBDs assume that each 

cabin we offer for sale accommodates two passengers and is computed by multiplying passenger 

capacity by revenue-producing ship operating days in the period.

Synonymous: APCD (Available Passenger Cruise Days)

EBITDA
EBITDA defined as Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation corresponds to 

operating loss before depreciation, amortisation and impairment of long-lived assets.

Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA is the reported EBIDTA, as modified for material non-cash items included in 

the net operating result such as impairment if current assets and provision and other non-cash 

items.

Net Cruise Revenues
Net Cruise Revenues represent total revenues less commissions, transportation and other tour 

operating expenses, on board and other expenses; in other words it is the combination of Net 

ticket revenues plus Net on board revenues.

Net Passenger Ticket Revenues
Net Passenger Ticket Revenues primarily consist of revenues for accommodation, meals, 

certain types of onboard entertainment, and include revenues for service charges, air and land 

transportation to and from the ship that guests choose to purchase from the Group.

Net On Board Revenues
Net On Board revenues primarily consist of revenues from beverage sales, retail sales, shore 

excursions, gaming, speciality dining, certain spa services and photo services.

Net Cruise Costs
Net Cruise Costs refer to all costs, fixed and variables, strictly related to the normal operativity 

of the ships.

Net Cruise Costs excluding fuel expenses
Net Cruise Costs refer to all costs, fixed and variables, strictly related to the normal operativity of 

the ships, excluding costs related to bunkering activities (e.g. fuels and lubricants).

Net Yield
Net Yield represents Net Cruise Revenues per ALBDs and is the most relevant measure of pricing 

performance because it reflects the cruise revenues earned, net of the most significant variable 

costs, which are are commissions,  transportation and other tour operating expenses, on board 

and other expenses.

Occupancy TB 
Occupancy TB expresses the loading factor of a cruise ship and it is computed by dividing TPCDs 

by ALBDs. A percentage in excess of 100% indicates that three or more passengers occupied 

some cabins. Synonymous: Load Factor TB

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES
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